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Monday, July 24, 2023
--- On commencing at 9:34 a.m.


MR. MORAN:  Good morning, everybody.  I think we are ready to continue.  Are there any preliminary matters that people want to raise at this time?  Okay.  If not, I guess we are ready to proceed with evidence brought by BOMA.  Mr. Rutledge, I believe you're up.


MR. RUTLEDGE:  Good morning.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and good morning, members of the Panel.  I am counsel for the Building Owners and Managers Association of the Greater Toronto Area, more colloquially known as BOMA.  For today's panel, it will be comprised of Mr. Ian Jarvis and Ms. Gillian Henderson, who will be speaking with respect to energy use in commercial buildings.


As I am sure many of you are aware, Mr. Jarvis is the founder and president of Enerlife Consulting and is a recognized authority on energy conservation, green buildings, and sustainable communities, with over 30 years of experience providing strategic and technical advice on energy performance in buildings, and he has served on many advisory boards and panels.  Mr. Jarvis is a member of Professional Engineers Ontario and the National Advisory on Energy Efficiency.  And he has previously been a member of Ontario energy minister's advisory committee and a founding chair of the Canada Green Building Council.  Mr. Jarvis has appeared before the OEB before to provide expert opinion evidence with respect to energy use in commercial buildings.


Ms. Henderson is the vice president of operations at Enerlife Consulting and leads the company's work in management consulting, strategic programs, project management, and social marketing.  Ms. Henderson has had over 20 years' experience in energy efficiency and sustainability and change management projects in various sectors, including in retail spaces, commercial offices, and the residential sector.


Mr. Jarvis and Ms. Henderson's curricula vitae and acknowledgement of expert's duty were inadvertently not filed along with BOMA's intervenor evidence on April 21, 2023.  They were later file with the OEB on July 14, 2023, so I believe they have been confirmed to have been received.  We also have not been advised by any of the parties that they intended to raise any issue with respect to Mr. Jarvis or Ms. Henderson being qualified as expert witnesses with respect to energy use in commercial buildings.  Accordingly, for today's panel, Mr. Chairman, I would request that Mr. Jarvis and Ms. Henderson be qualified as expert witnesses with respect to energy use in commercial buildings.


MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Rutledge.  Having heard there are no objections, we will accept Mr. Jarvis and Ms. Henderson as experts, as proposed.


MR. RUTLEDGE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  And then I would also just ask that both Mr. Jarvis and Ms. Henderson be sworn.


MS. DUFF:  I will we doing that.  I am going to ask the question first to Mr. Jarvis and then, with Gillian Henderson, I won't repeat the question, but I will just ask you confirm.


Mr. Ian Jarvis, you are about to give evidence in this hearing.  This panel is dependent on you telling us the truth, and the law also requires you do so.  Therefore, before you testify, I must ask you this:  Do you solemnly promise this panel that you will tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth?


MR. JARVIS:  I do.


MS. DUFF:  And do you understand that breaking that promise would be an offence under our law?


MR. JARVIS:  I do.


MS. DUFF:  Ms. Gillian Henderson?


MS. HENDERSON:  I do.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

PANEL 4 - ENERGY TRANSITION – BOMA M3

Ian Jarvis,
Gillian Henderson; Affirmed.

Examination-in-Chief by Mr. Rutledge:


MR. RUTLEDGE:  Thank you, Ms. Duff.


Mr. Jarvis and Ms. Henderson, you prepared the report entitled "BOMA's Evidence with Respect to Commercial Sector Gas Demand Forecast and Related Matters," which was originally dated April 21, 2023, and was accordingly later revised, with the most recent version being June 7, 2023, and prepared the related interrogatory responses dated May 15, 2023.  Is that correct?


MR. JARVIS:  That is correct.  I was the lead author and Gillian and her team provided the background research.


MR. RUTLEDGE:  Thank you, Mr. Jarvis.  And I don't believe Enerlife's revised report -- I will just call it that -- and Enerlife's interrogatory responses have been entered as exhibits yet with respect to these proceedings, so I would ask Mr. Millar:  Could we please enter both as exhibits.  I am not quite sure what exhibit number we are at right now.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Unless I'm mistaken -- thank you, Mr. Rutledge -- I believe these have all been pre-filed, so I don't think it's necessary to mark them as exhibits here.  They are already on the record.


Are these different documents than the ones that have already been filed with the Board.


MR. RUTLEDGE:  No, they are the same documents that have already been filed.  I was just thinking for the sake of making it easier to reference, but, if the Board is fine with just proceeding, that is great with myself.


MR. MILLAR:  I'm in the Commissioner's hands, but, ordinarily, we wouldn't give them a separate exhibit if they have already been entered on to the record.


MR. MORAN:  I think that's right.  Mr. Millar, perhaps you could assist Mr. Rutledge and let him know what the exhibit number currently is.


MR. MILLAR:  I cannot.


MR. MORAN:  Oh, okay.


MR. MILLAR:  I don't have it at my fingertips.  It is probably M-something would be the report.


MR. MORAN:  I'm thinking it's M3.


MS. DUFF:  Three.


MR. MILLAR:  M3 is the report.  I interrogatories, I don't think, have a specific number.  They were just filed on the record.  But I think, if we're speaking of their technology responses, it will be clear to everyone what we are talking about.


MR. MORAN:  Right.  So, Mr. Rutledge, Exhibit M3 is your main exhibit.  And then an exhibit number is already signed to the interrogatories for the purposes of the record.


MR. RUTLEDGE:  Thank you very much.


Mr. Jarvis and Ms. Henderson, do you adopt the Enerlife report and the related interrogatory responses as your evidence with respect to this proceeding?


MR. JARVIS:  I do.


MS. HENDERSON:  I do.


MR. RUTLEDGE:  Thank you.


So, Mr. Jarvis and Ms. Henderson, with respect to the Enerlife report, you refer to the broader commercial sector as a concept.  What do you mean by that and what is encompassed by this term?


MR. JARVIS:  Let me pick that one up.


The commercial sector, when commonly referred to, and the lion's share of the BOMA membership, are commercial buildings; commercial office buildings, shopping centres, retail facilities.  So that is a large part of the piece.  That same ownership also includes what is listed in general service industrial, so light industrial buildings, which we see as essentially big warehouses with processes going on inside them.  That becomes part of the scope, as well.


Those buildings are divided between both general service contractors and contract customers.  And we are not clear whether multi-residential, which again is a large part of our ownership group, whether that is within the residential definition under general service or not, but we estimate that the total annual gas use for our constituency, if you will, is somewhere between 28 and 30 percent of the total gas volume.


MR. RUTLEDGE:  Thank you, Mr. Jarvis.  Again, I will address this question to both yourself and Ms. Henderson, but in what ways are the circumstances of the commercial sector, as you described, different from that of the residential sector with respect to these proceedings?


MR. JARVIS:  I will pick this up first, and then Gillian has some perspectives on this, but very different in a number of ways.  The residential sector, which is the underpinning of many of the pathways reports, the residential sector is relatively homogenous.  There are different kinds of homes, but a fairly common approach to ownership.


The commercial sector is very different, both in terms of ownership, the kind of resources that different owners have, and the kind of needs and interests.  Within that group, the are public and private ownership, so it ranges from large commercial investors; REITs, real estate income trusts, so an investment community all the way to municipal councils and trustees.  So the commercial sector is very broad.  It differs in terms of its scale and its size of the buildings and the energy use within there; arenas and office buildings and hospitals are very different.  So different in terms of ownership, different in terms of scale, and different in terms of the nature of the building systems involved.


MR. RUTLEDGE:  Thank you, Mr. Jarvis.  Ms. Henderson, did you have anything further to add?


MS. HENDERSON:  No, I think he covered it quite adequately.  Thank you.


MR. RUTLEDGE:  Thank you.  So, Mr. Jarvis and Ms. Henderson, to what extent are the differences that you have just discussed reflected in Practical Pathways to a Net Zero Future?


MR. JARVIS:  Our sense, from reading the pathways reports -- not just the Guidehouse one, but others -- is that commercial buildings and again the opportunities and the needs of the commercial sector, which are quite diverse, are not well reflected generally in the assumptions that go into these, the net zero pathways reports.  The potential and the nature of the opportunities for reducing both peak demand and annual energy use are significantly different from residential, and our evidence aim to supplement that information with a better understanding of, again, whether opportunities and the needs of the broader commercial sector are met.

MR. RUTLEDGE:  Thank you, Mr. Jarvis.  Ms. Henderson, did you have anything further to add, as well?

MS. HENDERSON:  No.

MR. RUTLEDGE:  Thank you.  Well, thank you, both.  Mr. Chairman, those actually all of the questions I have for our witnesses.  If there is nothing further, I could turn them over to begin cross-examinations.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Rutledge.  I think first up for cross-examination is Pollution Probe.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brophy:


MR. BROPHY:  Good morning, Commissioners and panel.  My name is Michael Brophy, and I am here -- I am sorry.  Can you hear me?

MS. DUFF:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  I thought --


MR. MORAN:  Yes, we can.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  I am here on behalf of Pollution Probe.  I may refer to our compendium 1 or compendium 2, probably starting with compendium 2.  I only have a few questions, but before I get into some of them that relate to DSM, there was a preliminary item I wanted to mention, and -- I don't know if Mr. Stevens is there.  Are you there, Mr. Stevens?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, I am.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Great.  So just a very quick question, and you can decide if you take this away or not.  It just came up, and I thought it would be fair just to give you a chance to address it now.  Mr. Shepherd had talked about the Greener Homes grant program, and there was come confusion around that last week.  So, if we just pull up page 5 of compendium 2, I know under the DSM decision there was -- Enbridge was required to file the -- oh, maybe middle of the page, I think.  It was required to file -- oh, no, up a page.  There we go.  Perfect.  Thank you.  It was required to file the -- oh, it keeps jumping around on my screen for some reason.  Maybe up a little?  There.  There.  There might be a lag in what is being done and what we see.  Thank you.

This is the agreement, final agreement that was filed with the Board or at least the November 11th agreement that Enbridge filed.  Maybe there is a newer version, but, on this agreement, it indicates the differential between -- you get the higher incentive for homes in the Enbridge Gas franchise area that are on gas if they are still on gas once the post-retrofit assessment is done they get higher incentive.

So I am just wondering, Mr. Stevens, if it made sense to kind of take that away and indicate this is still the current agreement and, if it is, maybe Enbridge's understanding on how providing the higher incentive only to gas customers or customers who stay on gas, in Enbridge's understanding, aligns with the DSM decision.  Is that acceptable?

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Mr. Brophy.  Since the time that the questions were asked by Mr. Shepherd to Mr. Neme, Enbridge has done some investigating and confirmation exercises and, I understand, has confirmed that the way the programs are delivered does not limit the highest rebates to customers who remain on the system.

A customer has to be, as I understand it, somebody has to be a customer either before or after or both the times when the programs or the activities funded by the incentives are completed.  In other words, if a person is a customer at the time that the initiatives were undertaken but is not a customer afterwards, the maximum incentive is still available.

That being said, we understand there is some confusion, so we can take that away and provide a little bit more detail, but we don't want to leave the impression that the maximum incentive is only available to those who quote-unquote remain on the system.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Stevens, just if I may, in the DSM proceeding, Enbridge's original proposal would require customers to continue to be gas customers after they take advantage of measures.  The Board's decision obviously removed that barrier to fuel switching.

I am just wondering if you could take this away to confirm whether or not the agreement with EnerCan has been amended to make that clear and also to confirm whether there is any materials being used by the folks who actually deliver this program to consumers, whether those any of those materials include the idea that you still have to be a gas customer, having taken advantage of the measures that are available in the program.

MR. STEVENS:  Certainly, Commissioner Moran, we can do that.  Again, my understanding is as I stated in terms of how the program is delivered.  And my understanding is that a careful read of the terms and conditions would lead a consumer or a customer to the same conclusion.  But we will undertake to provide the information you have asked, including whether there was indeed any change to the formal agreement between EnerCan and Enbridge.

MR. MORAN:  The Board recognize in the aftermath of its decision that some time would be needed by both EnerCan and Enbridge to consider what amendments might be necessary.  Obviously, the incentives changed, so presumably there were amendments relating to that, as well.  I will leave that with you, but I think we are interested in having that confirmation.

MR. STEVENS:  Certainly, we will do that.

MR. MILLAR:  We will mark that as J8.1.  Just so we are clear, is that, I suppose, the question as described by Commissioner Moran, or maybe, Mr. Stevens, you could just give us your 10-second summary of what the undertaking is that Enbridge was providing.

MR. STEVENS:  Certainly, and I think, Mr. Millar, it would be 7.1.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I am sorry, 7.1.
UNDERTAKING J7.1:  ENBRIDGE WILL ADVISE AS TO WHETHER THE MAXIMUM REBATE IS AVAILABLE TO CUSTOMERS WHO ARE TRANSITIONING AWAY FROM GAS; AND WILL ADVISE TO WHETHER AND/OR HOW ITS MARKETING OR PROGRAM MATERIALS MAKE THAT CLEAR; AND WILL ADVISE AS TO WHETHER ANY CHANGE HAS BEEN MADE IN THE UNDERLYING AGREEMENT BETWEEN ENBRIDGE GAS AND ENERCAN, TO REFLECT THE AVAILABILITY OF THE MAXIMUM REBATE OR INCENTIVE FOR CUSTOMERS WHO ARE SWITCHING AWAY FROM GAS.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Enbridge will advise as to whether the maximum rebate is available to customers who are transitioning away from gas; and will advise to whether and/or how its marketing or program materials make that clear; and will advise as to whether any change has been made in the underlying agreement between Enbridge Gas and EnerCan, to reflect the availability of the maximum rebate or incentive for customers who are switching away from gas.

MR. MILLAR:  J7.1.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  To the extent that the materials make it clear, perhaps a copy of the materials along with the undertaking would be helpful.

MR. STEVENS:  Very good.  We will do that.

MR. MORAN:  Okay, and thank you.  Sorry, Mr. Brophy.  Please carry on.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Okay, so I think it is probably for Mr. Jarvis, but, Ms. Henderson, feel free to jump in.  Mr. Jarvis, you were also involved in the DSM proceeding which, similar to this proceeding, looks at what is needed to adequately meet the needs of Ontario consumers now and into the future, to reduce energy use, energy costs, and related emissions.  And, in that case, the OEB determined that not enough was being done, as you know, and we are going to see an upgraded plan.  I think it's in 2025 or thereabouts.  I am assuming, Mr. Jarvis, you are still in agreement that you think more is [audio dropout] to customers to reduce energy use and make the shift in the energy transition as we discussed?

MR. JARVIS:  That is the evidence that we have provided, Mr. Brophy, that indeed we believe that savings potential within the commercial sector is much greater than has been anticipated to this stage, and we look forward to working towards achieving that kind of gas-demand reduction.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  Yes.  So consistency and maybe even more urgency since the DSM proceeding.

So Enbridge as you know has indicated there is a lot of uncertainty in the energy transition.  And the shorter term safe bets approach is preferred, I think is what they are proposing.  But as you noted in your opening statement, if your constituents, which are building owners and operators, are already planning for a net zero future now and over the term of this rebasing period, doesn't that require long-term thinking?  I am trying to reconcile the short-term safe bets against looking out, you know, over a longer period, because actions are taken now that impact, you know, even 10 or 20 years from now.  Maybe you can help me understand your views on that.

MR. JARVIS:  Yes.  I would like Ms. Henderson to speak to that.  She is working directly with BOMA members and their short- and long-term planning is very clear.

MS. HENDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Jarvis.  Yes, the BOMA members are inquiring -- they are looking for certainty in order to invest in alternative technologies to transition their energy.  And that has been the number one concern:  uncertainty in regulations, uncertainty in pricing of carbon, all these issues play a few factor in whether they are going to proceed with investments and moving away from gas to electricity.  So I think this is absolutely critical.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  By the way, the phone connection dropped for some reason, so I switched back to Internet audio.  Hopefully it holds okay.  Thank you.

MR. MORAN:  It seems to be holding up fine, Mr. Brophy.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.

So if your constituents put in equipment over the next five years, the rebasing term, and it does not align with achieving net zero, so you could reduce -- you could reduce some emissions or energy use based on putting some energy efficiency equipment in.  But that may not actually get you to the net zero goals that your constituents have.  Is that a right assumption?  Or am I missing something there?

MS. HENDERSON:  No, absolutely.  And the types of investments we would look for, for the energy transition, would need a longer payback.  So they are looking at longer investment horizons -- 10, 20 years.  So they need that assurance, because they are looking at something that pays back over that kind of time period.

MR. JARVIS:  Let me add to that if I may, Mr. Brophy, that, just like this proceeding, the commercial building owners have very similar mindset that one of the immediate things that they can do now which are largely operational to achieve quite significant reductions in emissions, and we agree completely with Enbridge's first safe bet is energy efficiency first.  Let's maximize DSM.

But they are also looking at infrastructure renewal, and want to avoid making bad investment decisions.  So there is equipment that comes to end of life and has to be replaced.  There is a lot of focus on what is the low-carbon alternative to like-for-like replacement.  And again, in our mind, that matches very much what this proceeding is working its way through:  avoid bad capital decisions while doing everything we can upfront to advance the cause and reduction emissions in energy use, now.

MR. BROPHY:  So, if your constituents have to replace equipment or there is new equipment going in over the rebasing period the next five years, and it doesn't align with net zero, wouldn't they then have to take it out in the future or potentially become stranded and have to put in other equipment that is net zero aligned?  It seems like a bit of an extra cost, and --


MR. JARVIS:  I would turn that question around and say, as I perhaps didn't express very clearly a moment ago, every capital decision they are facing, whether they are replacing an air handling unit, should we add heat recovery now, even as Ms. Henderson said, if it extends the payback period?  If I am replacing a piece of equipment which right through the winter now is rejecting internally generated heat which most buildings have -- imagine, for example, a supermarket where the refrigeration units run all through the wintertime and the condensers throw the heat away outside.

So all of the decisions that our constituents are facing right now as that option is we can't, won't do like-for-like replacement because we risk stranded assets in the future, what are the low-carbon alternatives and how do we manage the whole capital planning process accordingly?

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  and would you say that the programs and materials available today bring all those pieces together in a way that helps your constituents make all those right choices and provide -- well, if there are incentives as well, incents them to make those longer term choices?  Or is more short term, that the current programs are supporting?

MR. JARVIS:  I would suggest it is every decision.  End-of-life equipment has to be dealt with, and every decision is best available choice as it exists today, with the knowledge that new technology is going to arrive over the coming years.

So again, I would suggest it is quite similar to the decision making within this proceeding, is what are the -- where we can't have safe bets because action has to be taken right now, what are the best bets, what are the best alternatives that are available to us today, and the knowledge that new approaches, new rules, new equipment is going to become available in the future.

MR. BROPHY:  One of the challenges I heard about and it was highlighted in the energy transition panel a little bit is there are so many different siloed programs out there.  You have DSM, there have been directives to try to get more partnership happening between electric and gas.  IRP is a different bucket from DSM, although it is almost the same things we are talking about.

And then I think Ms. Wade also mentioned that the greener homes is being delivered by a different group than her group which does, say, IRP.  Right?  So you have different groups doing different things that all equal the same kinds of decisions that your constituents are looking at.

So how could that be brought together better to put it on a plate and help your constituents wade through all these programs and incentives and support mechanisms?

MR. JARVIS:  Ms. Henderson, do you want to pick that one up?

MS. HENDERSON:  It is a great question, Mr. Brophy.  I think it is challenging for customers to navigate the various incentive programs and to determine how -- what applies to what and when -- what is providing incentives for what.  And unfortunately, often, they have to hire third parties to help them navigate it.  So anything to streamline and expedite the process from a customer perspective would be ideal, I think, and would accelerate both action on immediate operations and investment in future technologies.

MR. JARVIS:  Within that, if I could add the collaboration between the IESO and Enbridge is both absolutely necessary.  Owners do get frustrated about sometimes mismatches with programs but, at the same time, the progress that is being made on that front, the discussions we are aware of that are happening are absolutely moving in the right direction.

MR. BROPHY:  And I think you are aware of other organizations and proponents in Ontario, like Ontario's municipalities, many of them are pushing on energy and emission reduction plans.  I guess it would be a similar thing to partner with them.  And basically every partner out there that can be brought into the same tent to drive common messages and combined offerings, I am assuming that that is part of what you are proposing or supporting?

MS. HENDERSON:  Absolutely.  And municipalities who are driving a lot of changes you well know, Mr. Brophy, some of them are quite small and have gargantuan tasks.  So it would be ideal if they could work together, and it would be streamlined, so it happens more quickly.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  I know that others plan to go into some of the weeds of your report.  I am not going to duplicate that, so perhaps I will end there.  Thank you very much for your time today.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Brophy.  Next up is Energy Probe.  Mr. Ladanyi?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Ladanyi:


MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Good morning, Commissioners, Ms. Henderson, Mr. Jarvis, and the court reporter.  My name is Tom Ladanyi.  I represent Energy Probe.

Witnesses, I understand that you are energy consultants so your business is advising clients on how to use energy more efficiently.  Do I have that right?

MR. JARVIS:  That is correct.

MS. HENDERSON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. LADANYI:  Are your clients owners or managers of large commercial and residential buildings such as offices and condominium towers?

MR. JARVIS:  That is a large part of our client base, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Can we turn to page 5 of your evidence.  There is a table listing various sectors.  Page 5, I think it is a little bit further up.  Maybe we've got the wrong -- I may be looking at a different version of your evidence.

MR. JARVIS:  Perhaps I can help, Mr. Ladanyi.  Is it the table of the different building sectors and the target savings potential?

MR. LADANYI:  That's right.  Where is that now?

MR. JARVIS:  It is exactly where it was previously.  Can you scroll down to find that table.  Are we on page -- scootch back up, if you could.

MR. RUTLEDGE:  I believe it's on page 7.

MR. LADANYI:  Page 7.  It think it's -- I guessed the right number, but it's the same table.

MR. JARVIS:  Okay, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  There, thank you.

MR. JARVIS:  Thank you.

MR. LADANYI:  And the table lists various sectors, and I am not going to go through the numbers, unlike what Mr. Brophy expected.

Do you have clients in all of these sectors that are listed here, or you have had clients?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes, we do.

MR. LADANYI:  Very good.  And you also mentioned light industrial earlier today, so I presume maybe light industrial should be add to the table.  Is that right?

MR. JARVIS:  We don't have enough data on that yet.  We included light industrial because it's a significant part of the -- BOMA members own large amount of light industrial work, and we believe it has common characteristics, but we don't have data on at segment at this time.

MR. LADANYI:  So data on this table, is it data from your own studies or is it data from some other sources?

MR. JARVIS:  I will pick this one up, Gillian, until I get into trouble, if I may.  The data sources are described under "Notes."  We make extensive use of the provincial reporting system, the BPS -- and there is a glossary of terms at the end of the evidence.  The BPS is the publicly reported data collected by the Ministry of Energy for all public sector buildings in Ontario.  The EWRB is the energy and water reduction benchmarking, again collected by the provincial Ministry of Energy.  So it's province-wide and we make extensive use of those data.

At the same time, we also reference number of Enerlife's programs, Greening Health Care, Mayors' Megawatt Challenge, the Postsecondary Climate Challenge, where we have much more granular and more extensive detail on many of those buildings.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  I was going to say, can we turn to page 10, but I see that my pages are numbered differently.  So I will just say, can we turn to where you are describing energy efficiency for a representative office building by improved ventilation and internal heat recovery.

MR. JARVIS:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  I think the new numbering it might be page 12.  I don't know.

MR. JARVIS:  Yes.  Keep scrolling down, if you could.  Is it the progression --


MR. LADANYI:  That is fine, yes.  All I wanted to say is, since you are reducing gas demand, should we assume that your representative building is heated by natural gas?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes, you should.

MR. LADANYI:  Should we also assume that ventilation and internal heat recovery is provided by electrically driven fans?

MR. JARVIS:  The heat recovery is a minimal amount of electricity.  It's primarily putting equipment in that transfers heat and humidity from exhaust air leaving the building to outside air coming in.  But the internal heat recovery, the heat recovery chiller, absolutely, that is an electric machine.

MR. LADANYI:  So what happens if power goes out?  Do the fans stop running?

MR. JARVIS:  If the power goes out, most of the building owners we deal with have emergency generators that fall into the background.  But, like, with residential buildings, when the power goes out, no matter what your heat source, you are in trouble.

MR. LADANYI:  Do you know the building code requirements for emergency power supply?

MR. JARVIS:  I am not directly familiar with those, and neither would Ms. Henderson be.

MR. LADANYI:  Could you accept, subject to check, that any building over 18 metres in height, which is six storeys, has to have an emergency power capable of operating under a full load for at least two hours?

MR. JARVIS:  I can accept your word on that, Mr. Ladanyi, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  And if you notice the word "full load," or the phrase "full load" in that statement, would the full load include elevators, water pumps, boiler pumps, boiler exhaust fans, the ventilation fans you mentioned, would those all be included?

MR. JARVIS: Yes, it would, in the full load.  And perhaps you are going in this direction anyway; the good thing with these kinds of buildings is the load associated with the heat recovery in the winter is significantly less than the load associated with the cooling plant in the summer.  So all of the modelling we are doing at this stage is the potential for emissions reduction within the existing electrical capacity of the building that, right now, is established by the summer peak.

MR. LADANYI:  Do you know that the city of Toronto recommends that an emergency power supply generator be able to operate for 72 hours?  That's a recommendation; it's not a requirement.

MR. JARVIS:  I can accept your word on that, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  And that's based -- I did some research on it, but I don't want to burden you with it -- that the last large power outage was about 72 hours, three days, and the city of Toronto would like new buildings being built to have that.

Do you also know that the city of Toronto recommends that the emergency power supply generator be powered by natural gas instead of diesel?

MR. JARVIS:  I did not know that.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  And the reason for that, by the way, is that Toronto is concerned that, if the power goes out for a longer period of time, buildings that have a diesel generator might have difficulty getting tanker trucks to their building.

So, as far as you know, what type of emergency power supply do most tall buildings in Ontario over 18 metres in height have?  Would that be a gas-fired generator or a diesel generator, or something else like batteries?

MR. JARVIS:  Subject to check, again, the buildings that we are working with, I believe that they are primarily diesel.  But, again, that would be subject to check.

MR. LADANYI:  But, at least as far as the city of Toronto is concerned, they would prefer most to have gas generators.  So would you agree me that, for the safe and reliable operation of tall buildings, one really needs a gas-powered generator at the present time?  Maybe, at some future date, there could be some very large batteries, but at present time, really, it's just gas.

MR. JARVIS:  At this point in time, I accept your judgment that that is the case.

MR. LADANYI:  I understand that your office is near the OEB on Eglinton Avenue East.

MR. JARVIS:  Yes, it is.

MR. LADANYI:  So I can assume that you are familiar with the area?

MS. HENDERSON:  Mm-hmm.

MR. LADANYI:  So can we turn to Energy Probe's compendium.  And that is Exhibit -- I think it will be K7 point something.  And can we turn to tab 2, please.  By the way, Mr. Millar, can we have an exhibit number for that, please?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, K7.1.
EXHIBIT K7.1:  ENERGY PROBE COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 4.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Let's keep scrolling down here.  This is from a website, and I admit it was not the best download, and I am not an expert in this.  Keep going down until we get to a general kind of a map of the area.  Here is the map.  Okay.  I would like you to draw your attention to the map.  If you look at it, you will see Yonge and Eglinton, you will a -- Yonge and St. Clair, we'll see Davisville and St. Clair -- Davisville and Eglinton, rather, and you will see Mount Pleasant.  So are you oriented with the map, Mr. Jarvis and Ms. Henderson?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes, pretty much.

MR. LADANYI:  So, over the past 10 years, a number of tall condominium towers were built in the area.  You are aware of that?  On my walks in the area, particularly along Roehampton Avenue, on walk home -- by the way, I live just east of Bayview.  As a retired gas engineer, I often look for gas pressure regulators and meters.  Based on my observations, I have reached the conclusion that every one of the condominium tall towers is an Enbridge Gas customer.  Do you have any reason to disagree with me?

MR. JARVIS:  We have no reason to disagree with you.

MR. LADANYI:  Should we also assume that every one of those tall buildings along Roehampton Avenue has a natural-gas-fired boiler and a natural-gas-fired emergency power generator that can operate at a full load for approximately 72 hours?  I would be very surprised if they have anything smaller.  Would you agree with that?

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Ladanyi, if I could just stop you, I am not sure how Mr. Jarvis can confirm an assumption if he hasn't actually done an inventory of these buildings.  Mr. Jarvis, do you have an inventory of these buildings to be able to answer that question?

MR. JARVIS:  No, we do not, but, at this point in time, the assumptions do not seem unreasonable.

MR. LADANYI:  I didn't mean him to actually -- you know.  Perhaps there is a building there that has a diesel generator.  I can't say.  But this is just my impression.  I think that is a reasonable conclusion.  That is all I meant.

MR. RUTLEDGE:  Mr. Chairman, if I may, the questioning seems to be a bit more about Mr. Ladanyi leading his own evidence right now.  Perhaps if we could keep the cross-examination as to questions on BOMA's evidence?

MR. MORAN:  I think that is right.  Mr. Ladanyi, if you could, just focus on the evidence that has been presented by the two witnesses.  As I said, I'm not sure how much value there is to the Panel to have you present assumptions and for Mr. Jarvis to confirm whether he thinks the assumptions are reasonable or not.  I am not sure how far that takes us in a useful direction.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I will try to stick to the evidence, but I have to kind of approach it from an area that I think would be useful to know and, particularly there, as Mr. Jarvis and Ms. Henderson are the only energy experts that are going to be heard in this hearing.  Other experts are essentially economists from the U.S., who actually don't work in this area, at all.  So I would like to ask them a few technical questions if I may, and then you can decide if they are irrelevant or not when I file my argument, please.

MR. MORAN:  All right.  Let's see how it goes.

MR. LADANYI:  In your experience, Mr. Jarvis and Ms. Henderson, what is a typical cost of a boiler for a large condominium building?

MR. JARVIS:  I do not have information on that.

MR. LADANYI:  And would each large condominium building actually have two boilers, one for hot water and one for heating the building?

MR. JARVIS:  That would be the advisory, that there would be a much smaller unit to heat domestic hot water and larger unit to heat the building if they are using gas to heat the building, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  So how long do such boilers cost?  Sorry.  How long do such boilers last?

MR. JARVIS:  I do not have direct knowledge of that.

MR. LADANYI:  But they are not like a 5-year investment.  I would expect it would be something like 20 years, 30 years.  What do you think?

MR. RUTLEDGE:  Mr. Ladanyi, he just advised that he doesn't have knowledge as to the --

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  I am sort of surprised by that, by an energy expert with so many years of experience, who is advising clients, does not know the life of a building boiler.  This is amazing.

MR. JARVIS:  If you are suggesting it is 20 to 30 years, we have no reason to disagree with that.  You know, ASHRAE provides its guidance on how long different equipment life should be.  I have not referred to those in many years.

MR. LADANYI:  Ms. Henderson, do you want to add anything to that?

MS. HENDERSON:  No.  I have nothing to add.

MR. LADANYI:  And how about emergency power generators?  Do you have any idea how much they cost or how long do they last?

MR. JARVIS:  Once again, I have no expertise in that area.  Let's put it that way.

MS. HENDERSON:  Likewise.

MR. LADANYI:  And I think that was touched on by Mr. Brophy a minute ago, and it is essentially that owners of these buildings and the builders and so on are making decisions about investments right now, and they have made decisions about investments in recent years, when these large buildings were built, and they are expecting that gas service will be provided to them for the life of these assets that they invested in.  Would you agree with that, at least?

MR. JARVIS:  It would seem reasonable that that is the assumption that they made at the time.

MS. HENDERSON:  Mm-hmm.

MR. LADANYI:  Would you agree with me that then they have no expectation that the gas main on Roehampton Avenue, for example, will be abandoned and become stranded in the foreseeable future?

MR. JARVIS:  I would expect that to be the case.

MR. LADANYI:  Now, in my compendium, if you will go down further, back to my com -- and to a building which is 1840 Bayview Avenue, and, if you keep going down, and it is a glass-clad building.  I want to ask -- keep going.  Yes, keep going.  This one, I think it is a good one.  Let's look at this one.  It is a glass-clad building that is proposed to be built.  And you're an energy expert, and you talk about insulation of buildings, so is glass a good insulator or not?

MR. JARVIS:  The building envelope configuration are complex, and I would not respond directly to that question as:  Is glass a good insulator or not?  It depends on what configuration it is installed in.  As you know, energy -- all of these new buildings are subject to extensive energy modelling by modelling experts.  I am not a modelling expert.  They, with the building owner, with the building developer, they come up with the optimal combination of central plant, heating and cooling systems, and building envelope configuration to give them the energy performance that they are looking for.

MR. LADANYI:  But, if asked, would you advise your clients to minimize the use of glass for exterior walls?

MR. JARVIS:  There are many considerations in the use of glass, but glass has aesthetic appeal, and building owners are in the business of building buildings that people want to live in, occupy as offices, be patients in as hospitals, and we don't advise on that.  We advise on the energy implications of it, but we don't advise on what kind of building envelope they should choose.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Could you please turn to tab 1 of my compendium.  That deals with the ISO industrial conservation initiative.  Mr. Jarvis, Ms. Henderson, are you familiar with the ICI?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes, we are very familiar with the ICI.

MR. LADANYI:  Very good.  So, as far as I understand, this initiative allows industrial and large institutional electricity customers to avoid paying the global adjustment charge if they generator their own power at peak.  Is my understanding correct?

MR. JARVIS:  If they are able to reduce the five peak demand values over the course of a year, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  That is very helpful.  So, just last March, news media reported that McMaster University was building four gas-powered generators on campus.  Do you know about that?

MR. JARVIS:  We read about that, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  And that would be to take advantage of the industrial conservation initiative, I assume?

MR. JARVIS:  It is -- we have no direct knowledge of how they plan to operate that plant.  They could operate it as a peak-shaver.  They could have it incorporated in their overall central plan.  We are not aware of that.

MR. LADANYI:  Would you agree with me the administration of McMaster University must have evaluated the economics of building the four gas turbine generators, and the risk that gas would not be available at some time in the future, and decided to proceed with the project?

MR. JARVIS:  I don't believe we represent ourselves as experts in what McMaster University in Hamilton is thinking.  We were not involved in their decision making, and we have no knowledge what went into it.

MR. LADANYI:  Do you know that the University of Toronto has a gas turbine generator on St. George campus?

MR. JARVIS: I believe we aware of that, and no knowledge of the specifics.  We are also aware, if I may try to help to add, there are a significant number of hospitals in Ontario that have combined heat and power installations.

MR. LADANYI:  A few years ago I saw the generator, this generator at U of T.  I went on a tour by the local chapter of the Professional Engineers of Ontario.  And if my memory is correct, U of T has its own fuel gas meter, the turbine's data used to operate the gas turbine.

In your experience -- sorry, in your evidence, you criticize Enbridge for not providing clients with internal meters.  Why don't your clients buy and install their own meters?

MR. JARVIS:  It is a great question, and I am glad you raised it because otherwise we would have, at the redirect.  Right now, there are two problems with the lack of, if you like, smart metering for gas.  One is that the owners lack visibility on how they are using energy.  But the second one is Enbridge lacks visibility on how different segments of their market are using energy.

And we saw evidence earlier in this proceeding about the load profile on the peak day, which is a very pronounced spike, first thing in the morning.  Knowledge of which building types are causing that spike and the ability to reduce it through targeted efficiency or targeted demand-reduction measures with those owners would be of great benefit.

So our advice on metering, advanced metering, is one we believe it is more useful for commercial buildings, which is perhaps 10 percent of the total number of meters out there, and that it will be useful both to building owners in managing their energy use, in managing their gas demand, in managing their energy efficiency programs, in managing their transition to what is the low-carbon future.  It will also be of great value to Enbridge in having visibility on how and where their peaks and their demand issues are occurring.

MR. LADANYI:  So your proposal is that all gas customers pay for these meters for essentially your clients?  I would sum it that way.

MR. JARVIS:  We had not made any recommendation with respect to cost allocation.  We think that is an important one.  We cannot imagine low-income households paying for a commercial building owner's interval metering.  I believe there is merit, and as you pointed out, Mr. Ladanyi, many of our members have already installed a gas meter and they are making good use of it.  Many are not, which makes the data less available.

So as Green Button comes on stream later in this year, it will not be possible to pull down interval gas data; it will be electric.  But the lack of Enbridge visibility and degree to which that inhibits the opportunities for integrated resource planning is the parallel concern.

In our mind, you know, more than a decade after we had smart electric metering, given the importance of natural gas and greenhouse gas emissions, it is time for some level of smart metering around natural gas demand.

MR. LADANYI:  So have you on behalf of your clients or for other reasons made a proposal to Enbridge, a request that interval meters be installed on large commercial and residential buildings?


MR. JARVIS:  We had, in times back in the Run it Right program, which is one of the earlier DSM programs of Enbridge, where part of that program carried with it installation of interval gas metering, which was enormously valuable again for Enbridge to work with those particular customers to use the tremendous mount of intelligence you gather from the -- how gas is used based on outdoor temperature, based on time of day, based on day of week.

So several clients that we have got the benefit of the installation of interval meters through that program.  At this point in time, that is no longer in place and that has not happened.

MR. LADANYI:  I will let Enbridge continue with that, if they wish to.  I have another couple of questions:  A few days ago we heard from Mr. Shepherd that he is advising his clients to convert from gas heating to electric heating as soon as possible, in order to avoid paying for stranded assets in the future.

Are you advising your clients to convert any existing multi-storey building from gas heating to electric heating?

MR. JARVIS:  We are advising our clients to minimize gas consumption through DSM, which is a very substantial step towards net zero, by the way.  And also in their capital planning, whenever there is a decision about, for example, replacing a boiler or replacing a ventilation system, to take the low-carbon option which in the case as you pointed out earlier of the internal heat gains within buildings, reusing those to heat the building instead of throwing them away.  That involves heat-recovery chillers and extensive use; we see extensive use of those over time, to reduce natural gas consumption.

MR. LADANYI:  These are all my questions.  Thank you, Ms. Henderson and Mr. Jarvis.  Thank you, Commissioners, and thank you, court reporter.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Ladanyi.  Next up, we have Schools.  Mr. Shepherd?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning, Commissioners.  I do not have a compendium, and we can take that off the screen if you would like, Angela.

I apologize, I missed the first 20 minutes or so, and so if any of my questions have already been asked and answered, I apologize.  I have only four brief questions.

First, and maybe this is for you, Mr. Jarvis, although either of you could answer:  Do you know how many BOMA members are customers of Enbridge?

MR. JARVIS:  Ms. Henderson is the direct liaison with BOMA, and can best speak to that.

MS. HENDERSON:  No, we do not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you undertake to provide that?

MS. HENDERSON:  I don't believe they have access to that kind of information, no.  BOMA does not have access to that sort of information.  That would require a survey of members that is not provided to BOMA, so BOMA wouldn't have that information.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How many members does BOMA have?

MS. HENDERSON:  I don't have access to that information directly, either.  I would have to ask them directly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I would like an undertaking to provide that.

MS. HENDERSON:  Will do.

MR. MILLAR:  That is J7.2.

UNDERTAKING J7.2:  BOMA TO CONFIRM ITS NUMBER OF MEMBERS AND HOW MANY BOMA MEMBERS ARE ENBRIDGE CUSTOMERS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Secondly, do you have -- can you provide an estimate of the total load on the Enbridge system from BOMA members in the last year?  It could be 2022, for example.

MR. JARVIS:  I think I would pick up on that in the same way as we haven't related what proportion of commercial buildings or shopping centres or multi-residential buildings relate to BOMA members.  We haven't done that correlation and whether or not BOMA would be willing to undertake a survey of members, but we don't have that knowledge.

What we provided in attachment 1 to our evidence is what the current gas use of all commercial buildings is across the commercial, institutional, multi-residential, light industrial sectors.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have an estimate of the percentage of commercial-industrial blah-blah-blah buildings that are BOMA members?

MR. JARVIS:  I think, Ms. Henderson, that goes back to your earlier comment that we haven't got that breakdown.  BOMA members as you know is a large number of individuals; there are hundreds of them.  How those relate to which landlords and how many buildings they are responsible for, I don't know if that information exists.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am sorry.  I am having a hard time understanding how BOMA doesn't know the demographics of their own memberships.


MS. HENDERSON:  The membership is based on people, not on buildings.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?

MS. HENDERSON:  So it is based on people.  So people join BOMA.  They represent buildings, but they never provide BOMA with the information of how many buildings they represent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  BOMA has annual awards for buildings that are efficient.  They have events where many hundreds of building owners come together.  They include Oxford and people like that, big building owners.  Yes?

MS. HENDERSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it fair to say that some large percentage of buildings in this city, for example, are owned by BOMA members?

MS. HENDERSON:  It is fair to say, but I wouldn't know the exact numbers, and I am not sure they would, either.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to ask you, on a best-efforts basis, to give an undertaking to provide the estimate of the total load on the Enbridge system of BOMA members in 2022.  And you may come back and say, "BOMA has no way of estimating that."  You may come back and say that, but I would like you to go try, please.

MS. HENDERSON:  Okay.

MR. JARVIS:  Yes.  We can do that, Mr. Shepherd.  And I think that might be an interesting exercise for BOMA, as well, but we'll see what their reaction is.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J7.3.
UNDERTAKING J7.3:  TO PROVIDE ON A BEST-EFFORTS BASIS AN ESTIMATE OF THE TOTAL LOAD ON THE ENBRIDGE SYSTEM OF BOMA MEMBERS IN 2022


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it correct to say that most BOMA members either have existing plans or have plans under development to get their buildings to net zero?  Is that fair?

MR. JARVIS:  It is fair to say that many of them do that we come across.  Again, no survey has been done to say that, between all of them, 73 percent have, or 27 percent has.

The trend is absolutely moving in that direction and driven largely by the investment community and major tenants who are demanding action on climate change.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the big companies, right, the Oxfords and people like that who are BOMA members, they have comprehensive plans for how they are going to get to net zero in the future.  Isn't that right?

MR. JARVIS:  Gillian, let me.  You work with them more closely than I do, but the comprehensive plans, yes, that kind of gives the sense of, step by step, they know how to get to the future.  Their world is as I represented at the beginning, which is a great deal of uncertainty about what the pathways will be, about what the prices of energy will be, about where carbon prices are going, about what new technology is emerging, but a determination to do what they can do right now.  So they are working toward immediate programs and efforts to reduce demand as it, and looking forward to the future and understanding its uncertainty and looking to make good capital and operational and investment decisions right now, with the best information available.

So I don't want comprehensive to imply that they know clearly what the low-carbon future looks like.  They are managing as best they can with the information available.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I think I heard you say a few minutes ago that, when they make decisions today, the BOMA members, when they make decisions today, they are conscious of, and are being advised, not just by you, but by many of their advisors, to choose the low-carbon option.  Is that right?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes, that is fair.

MS. HENDERSON:  Yes, that's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And have you been involved in any committees, or task forces, or working groups, things like that, of BOMA members, either individually or as groups, that explore what is the best way to get to net zero if you are a commercial building owner?

MR. JARVIS:  Let me -- and, Gillian, please do supplement what I going to say.

There are two kinds of work we do with BOMA.  We have, for example, run number of webinars for BOMA members on our advice on pathways forward; like, how do you get there from here in the most sensible way.  And they are data-driven, exactly as our evidence.

Most of our direct work is with individual building owners, where there is a certain degree of competition.  And it's not reluctance to share; it's just they are taking their own path with their own particular properties.  We are heavily involved with how they are envisaging this pathway toward net zero, and we have characterized some of that within the evidence that we have provided.

So, yes, they are looking for low-carbon solutions.  It is not that they are getting advice; they are asking for advice, but there is a lot of uncertainty about what that pathway is going forward.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it fair to estimate that, at some point in the future, the natural gas load -- as opposed to maybe other gases, but the natural gas load -- of BOMA members will be 15 percent of what it is today?  At some points in to future.

MR. JARVIS:  Yes.  And, again, we have tried in the evidence to represent -- we provided a typical commercial building, how it went from its baseline operation, if you like, a median of current office buildings, to an energy efficient form, which is the biggest single step in terms of emissions reduction, to making full use of heat recovery, to the final step toward net zero.

So those incentives are in there, but the idea that, in the future, commercial buildings will be using 15 percent of the natural gas consumption, or less, than they use today, that is reasonable to us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to put you on the spot and ask you:  Can you estimate, given your experience in the industry, how long it is going to take to get there?  Is it going to be 10 years, 20 years, 30 years, 50 years?  Can you give an estimate?

MR. JARVIS:  I think the estimate we would offer is net zero by 2050.  There are a few landlords that are being more aggressive than that, but 2050 is branded in everybody's brains about:  We need be at net zero by 2050 or we are in big trouble.

The projections we have provided in our evidence intended to show a logical progression toward that net zero number.  And, again, in the short term, there is substantial opportunity to ramp up demand-side management.  If we are making the right capital decisions now, the final step to net zero is not that huge.  It is building by building, property by property, owner by owner, but that trend toward net zero by 2050 is an absolute commitment within BOMA membership.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You mentioned a financial community a minute ago.  In fact, you've mentioned it a couple of times.

Is it fair to say that the financial community is expecting commercial buildings to get to net zero at the latest by 2050?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes, it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And is it to fair to say that the investors in companies that own buildings, if you like, or manage buildings, those investors expect that to happen; that is, they insist that it must happen?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes, it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Next up, I guess, is Enbridge Gas.  Mr. Stevens?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Stevens:


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you very much.  Good morning, Ms. Henderson, Mr. Jarvis.  My name is David Stevens.  I am counsel with Enbridge in this proceeding.  I just have a few questions for you.  Primarily, we will just be looking at one interrogatory response, so I don't have a compendium to share with you.

You've talked some about your evidence already today, and it includes seven recommendations with respect to commercial, institutional, and multiple-residential buildings.  You have spoken a little bit sort of about the scope of the buildings you are examining.

A couple of questions on that.  First:  Are these BOMA's recommendations, or are they Enerlife's recommendations, or are those one and the same?

MR. JARVIS:  They are one and the same for this purpose.  BOMA retained Enerlife to provide expert evidence in this proceeding.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay, thank you.  And did BOMA with work any similarly situated intervenors on these recommendations?  I'm thinking, for example, of FRPO, who work with multi-residential buildings.  I'm thinking about CME, who work with industrial and commercial groups.  I'm thinking of LPMA, who represent multi-residential buildings.  I'm thinking of School Energy Coalition, who represent what I would call institutional buildings.  There are probably other examples, but what I'm interesting in knowing is how BOMA worked with those parties and how the recommendations reflect or do not reflect the views of those parties.  I am particularly interested in knowing not what you are surmising to be the positions of others but the actual decisions you have had and the collective work that you have done.

MR. JARVIS:  Yes, we have no knowledge of communication between BOMA and the other organizations that you reference.  During the course of the proceedings, there is a fair amount of discussion between those parties and the intervenors.  I think there has been very positive dialogue between the intervenors on the way through, and I think a number of them are speaking here.  So I believe there is a fair amount of alignment, but we are not aware of any direct communication between BOMA and these other parties.

MR. STEVENS:  So you didn't reach out and talk to the similarly situated intervenors before finalizing your report?

MR. JARVIS:  That is correct.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  And you didn't work with any of the similarly situated intervenors to see if they had other perspectives?

MR. JARVIS:  We -- there have been a few areas where the back and forth between the intervenors has prompted us to look into additional material information around what is happening, but there hasn't been a formal discussion along those lines, no.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Thank you.  Angela, could you please pull up Exhibit N, M3-EGI-23.  This is the BOMA response to an Enbridge Gas interrogatory.  In this interrogatory, Enbridge Gas asked BOMA/Enerlife to essentially convert the recommendations in the report into the determinations and directions that BOMA is seeking from the OEB in this proceeding.  Do you remember answering that question?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes.  I was responsible for that answer, and, yes, I do.

MR. STEVENS:  Perfect.  So I just want to ask you about a few of these, and this will be the focus of my questions.  I just want to understand what it is that BOMA is seeking from your report in this case.  There are lots of interesting things in your report, but, given the somewhat narrow scope of what is remaining in phase 1, I want to understand and confirm what BOMA is seeking.  So the first recommendation is to have Enbridge Gas evaluate and report on implications of different volume-forecast reductions for the commercial sector.  And the suggestion is 5 percent, 10 percent, 15 percent, 20 percent, so reductions going up by 5 percent a year from 2025 to 2028.  Do I understand that right?

MR. JARVIS:  That is correct.

MR. STEVENS:  So BOMA asked interrogatories in this case.  Right?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And BOMA asked questions at the technical conference in this case.  Right?

MR. JARVIS:  Correct.

MR. STEVENS:  But BOMA didn't ask any questions that would put on the record information about the implications of BOMA's assumed demand reductions in the commercial sector for each of these four years.  Right?

MR. JARVIS:  I would need to cross-check, Mr. Stevens.  The core premise of BOMA's evidence or BOMA's participation in this is that we need to increase gas demand reductions  -- sorry for the contradiction there, but we need to ramp up reductions in gas demand and the concern among BOMA members that we don't know what the implications of that would be on rates.

We were hoping that Enbridge might rerun with these assumptions and say this is what would happen to your rates with this; this is what the effect would be on capital spends.

So the intent was to have an alternative scenario, and I believe that has been the consistent position that BOMA has taken throughout this.  We expect the demand reductions to be much greater, and what effect is that going to have on our members.

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, and I understand the intent.  What I am asking about, Mr. Jarvis, is whether BOMA actually asked questions to create an evidentiary record to allow the OEB to understand the implications of your position.  I put it to you that BOMA didn't ask any of those questions, so we don't have that record in front of us now that we are at the oral hearing stage.  Am I right?

MR. JARVIS:  I understand what you are saying, yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Tell me if I am being unfair here, please, but, as I read through your report, it strikes me that BOMA's only evidence about why it is reasonable to assume a sectorial 20 percent reduction in commercial-sector gas demand in 2028 is that that is a reasonable spot along the road towards both the federal government's 30 percent-reduction target for buildings for 2030 and the overall net-zero target for 2050.  Those two things seem to be the only evidence that BOMA has as to why it is reasonable to assume that there will be a sectorial 20 percent reduction in commercial-sector demand, gas demand, in 2028.  Do I have that right?  Is that a fair statement?

MR. JARVIS:  I don't believe so.  The evidence we presented looking just at the hospital sector, which is representative and it is within the document, brings the rationale that the big difference between high-energy-using hospitals, energy-intensive hospitals, and the more efficient hospitals is because of natural gas use.  Electricity is reasonably aligned.  Some are more than -- some are bigger than others, but the biggest difference is natural gas consumption.

The argument is made and has been published many times in white papers that hospitals are hospitals; they house patients; they provide emergency departments and operating rooms and laboratories and kitchens, and they are essentially similar.  And there is a body of evidence to indicate that the difference between the more efficient hospitals that use X amount of gas and the less efficient hospitals that use 4 times X is primarily operations, maintenance, and controls.  It is how they run the hospital.  It's not -- and that those are the targets already of Enbridge's energy efficiency programs.

And, by refocusing them, if we can get all of the higher energy-using hospitals down to the top quarter, not to the bleeding edge, not to the most efficient in the world, that is what comes with around a 30 percent savings potential.  We have been publishing this information for over a decade now, and no one has yet challenged that premise.  Nobody has come back and said yes, but you forgot this, and these things get in the way that.

So this is seen as an empirical based on broader public-sector data, estimation of what should the savings potential be that now programming is directed towards.

Curiously, when we take every building segment within the jurisdiction that we are interested in, when we take all of those from where they are down to that top quartile level, we end up with a remarkable similarity between -- it is around 30 percent in each case.  So we are saying that's achievable just by reaching all the players not with major capital expenditure, just by running the hospitals and running the buildings more efficiently.  That seems like a reasonable goal which many building owners are working towards to reach by 2030, so that is the rationale.  That is the evidence.  It is based on the actual data of how much energy buildings are using and how much energy they, in quotes, should need.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  So my understanding, when I look at your evidence and I am looking at figure 3, for example, energy benchmarks for hospitals, you have looked at acute care hospitals where they are normalized to Toronto, and I think what you are saying is, if every hospital got itself to the top quartile, then the hospital sector would show the reduction that you are saying will happen by 2028.  Am I right?

MR. JARVIS:  I believe by 2030, but that is correct.  That is the idea, yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And then we have to also translate that to every other sector of what you are calling commercial buildings.  Right?

MR. JARVIS:  Correct.

MR. STEVENS:  So fair to say it is really more aspirational than anything else?  It is possible, but there is no evidence to say it is going to happen?

MR. JARVIS:  I am not sure where, given the current situation we are with climate change, whether "aspirational" is an appropriate word anymore.  But, if it is achievable, in other words there is no hospital on that group -- let's take this as the presumption -- there is no hospital in that group that can't achieve at least the top quartile level.  And, in fact, when they do so, they will probably keep going and do better, but the top quartile level.  This is not an ambitious goal.  This doesn't require rebuilding the hospital, replacing the windows.  It doesn't require -- it just requires changes in management practice, changes in approach, collaboration and, frankly, the excellent technical support that the hospitals get already from Enbridge's customer solutions advisors.  They are working on many of these, working towards those numbers already.  So I don't believe it is aspirational.  I think it is achievable.

And what we are pressing for is everybody needs to get together and make it happen.  Whatever those barriers are that get in the way, lack of knowledge, lack of training, lack of information, lack of executive awareness, whatever gets in the way, the goal of programming now is fix it and make it happen, because it can be done at reasonable expense, and it can be done right now.  And it is the least-cost step.  It is Enbridge's No. 1 no-risk event.  It quantifies what potential is for your safe, your No. 1 safe bet.  And it challenges I think everybody to say how do we get together and make this happen.

MR. STEVENS:  Right, thank you.  In the discussion with Mr. Brophy a little while ago, Ms. Henderson, I think what you said was that one of the barriers to commercial buildings investing in the solutions that will accomplish what Mr. Jarvis is talking about is, I will call it policy uncertainty, that rational building owners are waiting to understand, well, what does carbon pricing look like?  What are all the incentives?  What are we going to be forced to do? - before they make the investments required to get to the along-the-way state that Mr. Jarvis is describing.  Do I remember that right?

MS. HENDERSON:  Yes.  I think -- yes, I mean, there are -- there are leaders raising --


MR. STEVENS:  Right.

MS. HENDERSON:...that in the sector.  But yes, as a -- sort of the in the middle, that would be the case.  Yes, that --


MR. STEVENS:  And it --


MS. HENDERSON:  -- is an important factor.

MR. STEVENS:  I am sorry for interpreting.

MS. HENDERSON:  No, that's okay.

MR. STEVENS:  Fair to say that we are still in a period of great uncertainty in those areas?  There are no actual policies that are mandating building owners to get to a 30 percent reduction in 2030.  Right?

MS. HENDERSON:  Well, I mean I think we are -- certainly, the city of Toronto is very close to that mandate.  And it is becoming, well -- that knowledge is circulating, so that is adding some immediacy to and some sort of direction around policy for buildings within the city of Toronto.  But outside of the city of Toronto, that may be moreso.  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Right, thank you.  So again, that gets back to my proposition that the 20 percent reduction in commercial building throughput or demand by 2028 can't fairly be said to be a forecast, can it?  It is somewhere you would hope to be somewhere, and that we might get to, but it is not a forecast.

MR. JARVIS:  If I could offer, it becomes a forecast when Enbridge's -- as you say, policy direction is needed, but there is a lot of policy direction in place already.  When Enbridge's next round of DSM programs go even further than the last round did, which was good, when the IESO programs fall into place, you will be familiar that the federal office of energy efficiency of federal government is busy with its code acceleration fund, which will have -- or, sorry, code acceleration funding, yes -- in which you will have a significant accelerator effect.  You will see a lot of the federal government language now is around acceleration.

The deep retrofit, the DRAI, the Deep Retrofit Accelerator Initiative from the federal government, is putting millions of dollars into supporting capacity building around making these happen.  The Canada Infrastructure Bank is looking at large-scale aggregation of projects.  All of that is emerging over the next two or three years.  So we see just a lot of push in that direction and candidly, we have seen Enbridge as being an active participant in moving this agenda forward.

So if I could reframe, the numbers we placed in there becomes a forecast as and when we are able to align all of these areas to achieve what is, unless somebody has some interesting insight which hasn't emerged in the last decade, is an achievable savings potential.  And we just need to align around making it happen because, in our -- in BOMA's view, in our view, we are running out of time.

MR. STEVENS:  Right.  Okay.  Well, thank you, for that.  I don't have lot of time, so I want to move on to some of your other recommendations.  And hopefully we can go through them really quickly.

The second recommendation, which we can see up on the screen and again this is from your response to Enbridge interrogatory 23, is recommendations about what the pathways to net zero modelling should consider.  And I assume you are no longer pursuing this, given that Guidehouse has now answered IRs, answered questions at the technical conference and, you know, appeared and now left the hearing and no questions were asked on this.  Fair to say you are no longer pursuing number 2?

MR. JARVIS:  No, that is not fair to say.  The number 2, we have no -- we have asked a number of questions of Guidehouse throughout the proceeding.  As you well know, we have no knowledge of -- or rather, we know there are no assumptions around electric or gas distribution costs, and we have no knowledge that the modelling even considered what exactly decarbonization and electrification would look like in commercial buildings.

What number 2 makes is hopefully a helpful statement to those looking at this pathways future is that in our experience, having looked at so far less than 10 buildings, but building after building and building -- I don't want to represent this as being a mass study -- within the existing electrical capacity of the building, which is summer-peaking, we can do all of the heat recovery we need to during the wintertime, without adding to capacity.

So we have asked a number of occasions, what is the $300 billion associated with electrical infrastructure, new electrical infrastructure, how much of that is associated with the commercial sector.  And we have been informed that that information isn't available.  So I believe it is completely on the table.  We would like to understand where are those costs coming from.

MR. STEVENS:  But you heard Guidehouse tell you that they did not do a sectoral analysis.  Right?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes.  And absent that, there must be some --


MR. STEVENS:  And so --


MR. JARVIS:  Sorry to interrupt you, Mr. Stevens, but absent that, there must be some assumptions, some extrapolations which relate to the commercial sector, whether they are embedded in the whole system.  But the absence of knowledge of what is expected regarding how this transition is going to happen in terms of end-user costs, in terms of electrical infrastructure, in turns of gas infrastructure renders the current pathways study relatively unhelpful from our perspective.

MR. STEVENS:  I see, and I understand your evidence.  My question was really around your ask of the OEB.  And your ask of the OEB says that you are going to ask the OEB to incorporate specific additional things into the Guidehouse modelling.  And I am suggesting to you that the time has passed for that to be able to be done.

MR. JARVIS:  Yes, we understand that can't be done.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Numbers 3 and 4 are suggestions for enhancements to the DSM framework and the approach to DSM.  Are we on the same page that those are really items for -- that are better addressed through DSM processes, than as part of phase 1 of this proceeding?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes, we are.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And then items 6 and 7 talk about advanced metering infrastructure.  And I understand and I have heard you talk about the benefits of advanced metering infrastructure, particularly for commercial buildings.  And as you are aware, there is no proposal from Enbridge Gas for advanced metering infrastructure in this case.

Would I be right to understand that generally speaking BOMA would be supportive of such an application in the future?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes, you would be correct to understand that.

MR. STEVENS:  Great.  Well, thanks, very much.  Those are my questions.

MR. MORAN:  Thank, you Mr. Stevens.  I think we will take the morning break and we will resume at 11:20.
--- Recess taken at 11:05 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:24 p.m.

MR. MORAN:  We are ready to proceed next with FRPO, I believe.  Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  Thank you, Commissioner Moran, and good morning, Commissioners, Mr. Jarvis, and Ms. Henderson.

At the outset, we want to say that FRPO respects the energy efficiency efforts of BOMA, so please hear these questions as clarifying some statements that Mr. Jarvis made in the technical conference and, to some extent, in the hearing now.

So I just want to clarify some of BOMA's urging for better information from the meter.  My understanding is that it is not BOMA's position that the custody transfer meters for all customers be improved to provide better data.  Is that correct?

MR. JARVIS:  That is correct.  We are speaking, for our constituency, for commercial customers.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  In discussing with Mr. Ladanyi, you noted that it is your view that low-income customers should not pay, and we would support that.  Would you agree with me that it would be more appropriate that the business that would be benefiting from the information and the opportunity to reduce its costs should contribute some or all of the costs of the upgrade to their specific custody transfer metering?

MR. JARVIS:  The statement "should contribute some or all" we would agree with.  The whole cost allocation question around this proceeding is of interest to us, but, absolutely, the beneficiary pays is the right principle.  As I say, our interest is that, from Enbridge's standpoint, that that information is there to be aggregated and used for better planning.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  And I understand that there is a dual benefit, and so I appreciate your answer.

At the end of the discussion with Mr. Stevens, he identified that Enbridge is not proposing AMI, or advanced meter infrastructure, at this time.  Are you aware of any jurisdiction that has approved a system-wide advanced meter infrastructure for a natural gas utility?

MR. JARVIS:  We are not.  We had asked the question of Mr. Neme, and this was not an area he had expertise in.  I believe that would be a useful area to explore.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions, and thank you for the accommodation.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.  Next is Panel questions.  Commissioner Duff, do have any questions?  Mr. Elsayed?

MR. ELSAYED:  No questions from me, thank you.
Questions by the Board:


MR. MORAN:  I have a couple of questions.

Mr. Jarvis, in your direct evidence, you indicated that we estimate that the total gas annual use for our constituency, if you will, is somewhere between 28 and 30 percent of the total gas volume.

Subsequently, there were some questions from Mr. Shepherd which seemed to suggest that perhaps you weren't that firm on what the contribution was.

I wonder if you could just clarify for the record what you were relying on to estimate the 28 to 30 percent, notwithstanding that you provided an undertaking to provide further information.

MR. JARVIS:  Yes.  Let me respond to that, Mr. Chair.

The attachment 1 to our evidence presents the total gas demand of the whole, broader commercial sector.  So it speaks to general service to contract customers.  Again, we admitted we are not clear on whether residential general service includes apartment buildings, multi-residential buildings, or is just purely residential, but it doesn't really change the story very much.

So, within that, the total volumes associated with commercial are shown there in row 8.  If we add the industrial piece -- and that's where that whole volume for the whole sector, for all segments within this broader commercial sector, that's what adds up to the 28 to 30 percent.  The examination of how much of those buildings are represented by BOMA members, that we cannot speak to.  Whether it is 10 percent or 20 percent or 50 percent, we are not aware of that and we are not sure that BOMA knows that, either, but we will undertake to explore it.

So we are talking, in the evidence, to the whole commercial institutional multi-residential sector, the BOMA question is a narrower subset of that group.

MS. WALTER:  Commissioner Moran, you're on mute.

MR. MORAN:  Sorry.  It is going to happen from time to time.

MR. JARVIS:  I thought that was just me, yes.

MR. MORAN:  I wanted to follow up on -- Mr. Stevens had some question on this, with respect to your recommendation or proposal in relation to the reduction of throughput for commercial buildings; 5 percent in 2025, 10 percent in 2026, 15 in 2027, and 20 percent in 2028.

I know you participated in the demand-side management proceeding and you will be aware that, in its decision, the Board provided its expectations with respect to the next DSM plan.  How do you see these reductions fitting with what was set out in the DSM proceeding?

MR. JARVIS:  So I wonder:  Could we go back to the same attachment and try to enlighten that?

So what we were seeking with those more substantive reductions in gas demand was scenario analysis.  You know, it's a given that there is no certainty at this stage quite how all this will unfold.  What would the impacts be?  That is what BOMA members were interested in.  But rows 9, 10, and 11 aim to bring this together.

So row 9 is what came out of the DSM proceedings, as best we understand it.  Those are the forecast reductions.  Row 10 is the -- I am just trying to remember the scenario -- there is a semi- constrained forecast for commercial buildings from the APS forecast.  And row 11 is a staged stepping-up toward the 30 percent reduction, speaking to 2023.  That would we the comparisons between them.

The direction from the OEB coming out of that, the forward-looking direction about absolute reductions in gas consumption and what kind of annual reductions in total throughput would be required to meet that, or the expectation of the Board would be, those, we are highly supportive of.  Because we are tracking this kind of two steps forward, one step back kind of scenario here, that we are losing ground and we are gaining ground.  If the whole gas system isn't coming down, we're not going in that direction.

So we believe all of these are directionally there, but they all imply a significant scaling-up of the results of DSM that are both forecast and are already happening.

I don't know if that answers your question, Mr. Chair.

MR. MORAN:  It does in part.  When the Panel is contemplating what to put into its decision at the end of this proceeding, how would you see that playing out?  Is it simply us including in the order section that there shall be these reductions.  And you talked about scenario planning.  Is it about doing some scenario planning?

Just help us understand exactly what it is that you think we might do in our decision.

MR. JARVIS:  Thank you for that question.  It's the right one.  It's absolutely the correct one.

The question we raised in the BOMA evidence was around scenario planning, but our members -- if, as we expect, the reduction in gas demand is substantially greater than is being forecast right now, we can find nothing to indicate what we should be telling our members about what is going to happen to the gas prices, the gas rates.  And, if it is substantially greater, as a number of intervenors have suggested, what does that do to the asset management plan and the proposed capital spending?

That was, if you like, the basis of the specific question here.  So it could be asking:  Can we do that scenario planning so we are better informed?  And, commercial building owners, the bigger intent that we had with the evidence is to provide context that would then reflect -- and our apologies if this is out of order with this particular proceeding, but the context is there is an achievable potential study coming up in 2025.

We will be getting ready for the 2026 DSM framework, and it is really to attempt to set, if you like, the mind frame with the Ontario Energy Board that we can and need to expect much more from DSM and that that has a ripple effect through everything that is within the current plan, that it affects the capital planning, it affects prices, but it significantly affects the energy transition.

If, as we believe we have demonstrated, we can get much closer to net zero through safe bets, no-risk investments in DSM and energy efficiency, and without increasing electrical capacity of buildings, that significantly changes that pathway-to-net-zero picture, and we are hoping that that will get reflected as this unfolds.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  With respect to interval metering, again just to understand what you are specifically asking us to consider, are you asking us to require interval metering for all commercial buildings, or you asking us to require Enbridge to provide interval metering on a request basis, from a building owner?  Help me understand the scope of the ask there.

MR. JARVIS:  We are looking towards interval metering, advanced metering, for all commercial buildings to, one, even though owners who may not yet be aware of how much value it can bring them in pushing them towards making efficiency improvements and identifying the right improvements and making the business case.  So -- but, for us, the other picture is Enbridge cannot use a few interval meters here, there, and everywhere to plan for demand reduction, plan for demand response, plan for programming that can reduce the peak demand.  We saw the excellent evidence.  I missed the exhibit that showed, our peak gas day, we have a 52 percent load factor.  It was that morning peak, that the overall consumption for the day is 52 percent peak, generates again the 52 percent use of that peak capacity.  The opportunities in the commercial sector to reduce peak demand through permanent retrofits and even through some forms of demand response are significant.  Without advanced metering, Enbridge simply cannot take advantage of that, and our concern is that we continue to build unnecessary gas infrastructure which could have been avoided if we had, again, a better visibility into how gas is actually being used on the peak day.

MR. MORAN:  The last thing I want to ask you about is with respect to the savings that you anticipate.  We talked about two recommendations, two kinds of recommendations you make to your members, and that there are significant savings associated with smart controls and the like.  What is stopping building operators from putting in those smart controls at this time?

MR. JARVIS:  Mr. Chair, it is broader than smart controls, but it is the right idea.  It is operational, maintenance, controls.

MR. MORAN:  True, that whole category that you --


MR. JARVIS:  Yes, that whole bucket that has a good payback.  Again, we present webinars on this.  Overall, it is lack of knowledge, it is lack of alignment, it is doing things differently than we have done them before, so there are interesting barriers that get in the way, but there is also a large number of buildings that are doing [audio dropout] right now.

I think, if I could draw the Panel's attention to the part of our evidence that talks about this idea of three steps forward, two steps back, there are significant natural-gas reductions that are taking place in buildings now.  We have been tracking those through the provincial reporting to the Ministry of Energy, so we are able to look at year on year on year, and we can see hundreds of buildings that are making improvements.  They are offset by hundreds of buildings where the gas consumption is going in the other direction, and all of the evidence we have so far says that that is due to oversights; to missteps; to operational changes; to the caretaker in a school in Thunder Bay that has a complaint from the principal, saying, it is too cold in my office, and the only thing they can think of doing is switching the mechanical systems to a hundred percent and just leaving them running there.

The assumption that energy use in commercial buildings runs at a baseline, it runs kind of steadily unless there is an intervention from Enbridge or some other party, policy change, that moves it, that is just not the case.  Natural gas consumption in commercial buildings steadily rises over time as equipment deteriorates, as programming gets overridden, as a whole bunch of things that happen, which are largely -- that the owners are largely unaware of.  So the fact that gas use right now in buildings is going up instead of down is not because no buildings are making savings; it is because a large number of buildings are creeping upwards and eliminating most of those savings.  So that is the part that, when we get to the next DSM hearing, we will be advocating for:  What does programming look like that helps building portfolios prevent those increases?  If I could respectfully set a puzzle for the day, it is:  How will you incentivize, how will the Board incentivize, Enbridge Gas for increases that didn't happen?  Because those increases right now are eating us alive.  They are offsetting practically all of the gains that are being made through DSM as of today, which is why Enbridge's gas-supply-plan line is still creeping up by 1 percent a year instead of going down.

MR. MORAN:  You have referenced barriers.  Is there something that you are asking us to do in this proceeding in relation to that issue?

MR. JARVIS:  No.  That will come.  As Mr. Stevens properly pointed out, that will come in the DSM hearing as to -- in the next DSM hearing and hopefully in the achievable potential study that predates that as part of, again, what we have tried to describe at a high level in the evidence, is:  What does the next generation of DSM programming look like?  We made headway in the last proceeding; we will make more headway.  If, again, I could reference the Board to the IESO hazard strategic energy management program which it is introducing this year, which directly, one, is world-class, you know, is really kind of raising the bar; and, two, is aimed at building organizational capacity for maintaining energy efficiency as opposed to looking at equipment and building systems and, if you like, incentivizing measures.  They are looking to incentivize organizational capacity building, which is fundamentally important to deal with the issue that I was describing a moment ago, if that makes sense.

MR. MORAN:  Right.  In the second aspect of your advice to your members when it comes to capital upgrades, you are recommending they consider low-carbon solutions to replace the current equipment, what is preventing, if anything, from -- what is preventing those decisions from being made, based on what you are observing?

MR. JARVIS:  Again, primarily knowledge and awareness and, again, changing from the status quo:  This is not the way we have always done it.  But, you know, they are moving in the right direct.  Very often, as well, with great respect to the engineering and construction community, they rely on advice, again, which has not necessarily caught up with what this low-carbon future looks like.  Again, the classic example would be, you know, if you are running a grocery store and the air-cooled condensers that keep the freezers frozen and keep the cold-storage units cold, when they come to the end of life, it is not necessarily a natural assumption that you can look for something that suits the low-carbon future; you are going to replace the equipment that was there.

The lion's share of the commercial sector is still in that mindset right now of doing things the way they have done them.  And, again, we see Enbridge's and the IESO's programs moving in the right direction towards intervening early enough that you can have an effect on that outcome.  At the same time -- sorry to take more time, but there was almost an implication in Mr. Stevens' questioning of Ms. Henderson that perhaps the landlords are sitting on their hands, waiting for policy direction.  And that is absolutely not the case.  On a day-to-day basis, they are making these decisions now.  And the more informed owners are making low-carbon decisions, but still a majority of owners are making like-for-like decisions because that is the way it has always been.

So shifting that paradigm, shifting the way the buildings industry works, is the collective challenge.  We are all in that challenge together, and looking to, once everything is aligned in that direction and the owners and the consulting engineers and the contractors are getting good advice, we will get better outcomes.  And we see that as an upward spiral.

Once that begins to happen, it will pretty soon become the norm.  And that is why we believe there will be a rapid uptick in the rate at which natural gas consumption is declining over the next few years.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Jarvis.  That is all the questions from the Panel, then.  Mr. Rutledge, do you have any redirect?

MR. RUTLEDGE:  No, Mr. Chairman, I do not.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  With that then, Ms. Henderson, Mr. Jarvis, thank you very much for your assistance in this proceeding.  And you are excused.

MR. JARVIS:  Thank you.

MS. HENDERSON:  Thank you.

MR. MORAN:  The next panel is an Enbridge panel, the Dawn-Parkway capacity turnback risk.  Mr. Stevens, do you need a few minutes to set up?  Or are you ready to proceed?

MR. STEVENS:  We will need about five minutes, please, Commissioner Moran.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  All right.  All right, we will adjourn for five minutes.  Mr. Millar will let us know when you are ready to go.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 11:45 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:53 a.m.


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Stevens, just before I turn to you, Mr. Millar indicated he had one brief housekeeping matter.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  This morning, Mr. Brophy, on behalf of Pollution Probe, referred to a compendium that they had filed in his cross-examination of the BOMA witnesses, and I neglected to mark that.  I am proposing to call that K7.2.
EXHIBIT K7.2:  POLLUTION PROBE COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 4.


MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Mr. Stevens, are you ready to proceed?

MR. STEVENS:  We are, thank you.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.

MR. STEVENS:  Good morning.  The next Enbridge witness panel will be speaking to two items.  One is Dawn-Parkway system turnback risk and the other is historical PDO PDCI payments from 2019 to 2023.

As you can see, there are three members of the Enbridge panel, and I will introduce them now.  Gord Dillon is the manager, transmission system planning; Max Hagerman is the director, storage and transportation sales; and Amy Mikhaila is manager, rate design.  Mr. Hagerman and Mr. Dillon will be the folks who are primarily answering questions about the Dawn-Parkway system and turnback risk, and Ms. Mikhaila is the person who will be primarily answering questions about PDO and PDCI.

And, with that, the witnesses are ready to be affirmed.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Three witnesses; I will repeat the question only once.  I will direct it first to Mr. Dillon and then I will just ask each of you whether you agree, as well.

Mr. Dillon, you are about to give evidence in this hearing.  This panel is dependent on you telling us the truth, and the law requires you do so.  Therefore, before you testify, I must ask you this:  Do you solemnly promise this panel that you will tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

MR. DILLON:  I will.

MS. DUFF:  And do you understand that breaking that promise would be an offence under our law?

MR. DILLON:  I do.

MS. DUFF:  And Mr. Hagerman?

MR. HAGERMAN:  I will, and I do.

MS. DUFF:  And Ms. Mikhaila?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I will, and I do.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much.
EGI PANEL 2 - DP CAPACITY TURNBACK RISK, HISTORICAL PDO/PDCI
Gord Dillon,
Max Hagerman,
Amy Mikhaila; Affirmed.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  The schedule indicates that we have a direct examination of this panel.  However, we determined that we will not proceed with any direction exam of this panel, but will instead reserve that time and use it for direct examination of the customer attachments panel later this week.

With that, the panel is ready to answer questions from other parties.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  I understand that Schools is going to go first.  That is you, Mr. Rubenstein.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, panel.  Can everybody hear me?

MR. DILLON:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Yes, I have been asked to lead off here on this panel.  And just for the Commissioner's note, there have been some discussions between myself and Mr. Mondrow on behalf of IGUA and, due to the changing of the panel order, our time will be a collective and, insofar as I borrow from him, that will reduce his time.  We've been coordinating the cross-examinations of this panel over the weekend.

Panel, I also have two documents I'd like if we can mark as an exhibit.  The first is a compendium for this panel, and then the second document is a document that I circulated yesterday.  It's an Enbridge document called -- it is titled "Invitation to Bid, Enbridge Gas New Capacity Open Season" dated June 6, 2023.  I was wondering if we could mark those two as exhibits, please.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Let's mark the first one, the compendium, as K7.3 and the second document from Enbridge as K7.4.
EXHIBIT K7.3:  SEC COMPENDIUM FOR ENBRIDGE PANEL 2.

EXHIBIT K7.4:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "INVITATION TO BID, ENBRIDGE GAS NEW CAPACITY OPEN SEASON", DATED JUNE 6, 2023.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Before I begin, is there a time when you would like to a break for lunch?  I should sort of orient my cross to try to end at that point.

MR. MORAN:  We are generally aiming for somewhere around 12:30, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right, thank you very much.

MR. MORAN:  Give or take.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I would like to start off, panel, by discussing the issue of the turnback risk, and I would like to do that before we talk about the PDO issue.  And I want to have a better understand about the Dawn-Parkway turnback risk issue and some of your positions as it relates to some of the intervenor evidence filed on this.

As I understand the issue, the issue that brings issue 38 to the fore is that the question is the risk that customers who contract for capacity on the Dawn-Parkway system will not renew their contracts, and that would not adequately be replaced by others who want to increase their contracted capacity or have new capacity.  That is what we mean when we're talk about turnback risk.  Is that fair summation, at a high level?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Max Hagerman.  I suggest that is a fair assertion, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the term "turnback" really just means the return or reduction of capacity at the end of a contract and, in some cases, as we'll discuss, if someone is allowed out of their contract early.  Is that fair?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Max Hagerman.  Yes, I'd suggest that's fair.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  For those who know me, I like maps.  And so I was wondering if we can start at page 2 of the compendium.  This a map of the Dawn-Parkway system.  Correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And it is major transmission system that starts at the Dawn hub and goes all the way up to Parkway.  Correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And it includes a number of compressor stations that essentially push the gas through the pipe, and there is are a number of receipt points along the Dawn-Parkway system that take the gas to other places.  Correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, as I understand it, when Enbridge is considering expanding its transmission system, it undertakes an open season.  Do I have that correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that means, in addition to any demands that it forecasts may be required for its own in-franchise customers who are served off that system, it essentially goes to the market ask asks who needs new capacity on that specific transmission path.  Correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  That is correct.  Although I would say that, as far as an open-season process goes, the in-franchise demand is also bid into that open season.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We will get to that in a moment.  All right.  And so you ask the market -- and, in some cases, I guess yourself here, as you are saying -- if it could be new customers who want to contract on the system or existing customers who want to increase their capacity.  Correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And it is a bid, as I understand, but it's not -- they don't bid on price.  Correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  No.  It's a bid for capacity.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so, really, they indicate to you, through what is what known as a bid, what is the capacity that they are looking to hold and, potentially, what is the exact receipt point and delivery point.  Correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And they are required -- if they are awarded capacity, they are required to pay whatever the regulated rate is at the time.  Correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding is they are required to enter into a contract, a long-term contract.  Correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Yes, typically a 15-year contract.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, as I understand it -- we can turn up what was K7.4 -- this is an example of an invitation to bid that you recently completed on the Dawn-to-Parkway system.

MR. HAGERMAN:  Yes, it is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we flip to -- if we stay on the first page, as I understand what this says, it's that bids were due on July 18 and you were expecting to award capacity on or before 4:00 p.m. tomorrow.  Is that correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  That is correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And once that is completed and you awarded the bids, can you undertake to provide how much capacity was bid into and how much was awarded from this?

MR. HAGERMAN:  I believe that we can.  After those -- right now, the commercial process is still confidential, but, once those bids are awarded, I believe that we can share that information.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  So this would be after 4:00 p.m. on July 25?  That's what you're referring to?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can we have an undertaking for that.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  It is J7.4.
UNDERTAKING J7.4:  ENBRIDGE TO FILE INFORMATION RELATED TO CAPACITY BIDS AND AWARDS FOR OFFER COMPLETED AFTER 4 P.M. ON JULY 25, 2023; TO INCUDE RELATING TO ENBRIDGE'S OWN IN-FRANCHISE CUSTOMERS; TO INCLUDE INFORMATION AS TO THE LENGTH OF THE CONTRACT THAT ENBRIDGE GAS GAS SUPPLY BID INTO THE OPEN SEASON.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And can I ask if you are able to provide in that undertaking how much of that bid would have been in any of Union's capacity for its own in-franchise customers?

MR. STEVENS:  It is David Stevens speaking, Mark.  When you say how much would be Union's capacity, are you differentiating from the Enbridge Gas rate zone?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am sorry.  If I said "Union," I apologize.  It is -- I meant Enbridge Gas, for its customers.

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, we can include that in the answer.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, as I understand from the OEB's storage, transmission, and access role, known as "STAR," when Enbridge wants to expand its transmission system, such as the Dawn-to-Parkway, it is required also to undertake a reverse open season.  Do I have that correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  If necessary, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, can I ask:  What does if necessary mean?

MR. HAGERMAN:  If the expansion require -- I suppose, if the expansion requires a build which identifies an expansion, we would have to hold a reverse open season.  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I understand what a reverse open season is at a high level, it is where you go to existing customers who have existing contracts for capacity and you essentially say:  Who would like out of their contract and release some of that capacity; who is willing to give up some of their capacity?  Is that, at a high level --


MR. HAGERMAN:  That is accurate, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- what happens in open seasons?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Yes, that is accurate.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In that, in that, if that occurs, that is also called "turnback."  Correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  I would say that is called turnback, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the idea being here we want to, you, Enbridge, wants to ensure, that they are right-sizing the new build or even avoid it if necessary.  So the first thing we essentially ask is:  For those who have capacity, who wants to give it up?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Yes.  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so, for an example, if there was an open season and you get bids for 100 TJs a day and the reverse open season you get bids for 50 TJs a day, essentially now you only need to build for 50s TJs a day.  Correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, if the reverse open season got 100 TJs a day, you don't have to build that infrastructure, at all.  Correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, in certain circumstances, if you are doing a new build on the Dawn-to-Parkway system, do you require existing customers who have existing contracts to extend them?

MR. HAGERMAN:  At the current time, we do not, if you are referring to a term-up provision.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So there are -- and so I think you are leading to my -- my understanding, my next question.  My understanding in some circumstance -- I know this is the case for Enbridge with respect to upstreams, some upstream pipes that it uses to bring gas to Ontario, when there is new build, they are sometimes required to extend those contracts for a certain period of time?

MR. HAGERMAN:  That is true, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And why don't you have such a provision?

MR. HAGERMAN:  I believe that we would be open to a term-up provision as a part of a reverse open season combination to offset or manage implications as part of a build.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I have that you just said "as part of a reverse open season."

MR. HAGERMAN:  So, in our minds, the reverse open season and a term-up provision work very much hand in hand.  They ensure that customers who want and need the capacity are going to stay on and commit to the system, whereas those who don't need the capacity and feel they can release it, then they would do so.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Turn to page 3 of the compendium.  This is from Mr. Rosenkranz's evidence.  As I understand it -- and I will have some questions for him later on -- one of his recommendations is that Enbridge allow what he calls buy-out payments in a reverse open season.  Is that your understanding, as well?

MR. HAGERMAN:  That's my understanding of his recommendation, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, as I understand his recommendation, what he is proposing at a high level is that not only do you undertake a reverse open season, as we discussed, but you actually hold what would essentially be a reverse auction, where existing customers with Dawn-to-Parkway capacity contracts and capacity would bid a price they are willing to be paid by Enbridge to turn back that capacity.  Is that your understanding, as well, at a high level?

MR. HAGERMAN:  That is the way I understand it, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And he proposes that Enbridge pay those amounts up until they get the capacity you need to turn back to avoid a build for presumably no more than the cost to construct the incremental infrastructure.  Correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  That is what he is proposing, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, essentially, you pay a rate that would be equivalent to the avoided cost?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mr. Rosenkranz in his evidence says this would be consistent with IRPs as it is really a demand-side IRP alternative.  Is that your understanding, as well, of his evidence?

MR. HAGERMAN:  I am not certain if it aligns with an IRP, but I do understand his position and what he is trying to achieve.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you:  Does Enbridge agree with his proposal?

MR. HAGERMAN:  We don't necessarily agree with the proposal.  We have some concerns with how it would be implemented.  I can go into them if you would like.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, let's do that because I am interested in understanding Enbridge's position with respect to that proposal at a high level.  Let's just start at a high level.

MR. HAGERMAN:  At a high level, if you are offering a payment as part of a reverse open season process, I think that the free move or free return of capacity for a customer will no longer exist.  I think that, if I am that customer and I know that I can get paid, I am always going to attach a cost to that reverse open season returned capacity.  Even if I might not want to return that capacity, I might find a way to return it.  So I think what we are concerned with is customers who might otherwise return that capacity without a payment would return it with a payment that we might not otherwise had to have made.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is there anything else?  Is that really the main --

MR. HAGERMAN:  That is really the main driver.  I also think that a standard reverse open season coupled with a term-up provision would achieve essentially the same thing.  It would provide a certainty of that customer staying on the system for 5 years past the in-service date of any facility builds and would allow us to make sure that that customer stays on.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just to be clear, at present time, there is no term-up?

MR. HAGERMAN:  At present time, there is no term-up.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  You make the statement which may in fact be entirely correct -- I don't know -- that a customer, essentially, in a reverse open season won't give up their capacity for nothing if they know there is a chance of payment.  But we don't actually know that, right, either way?

MR. HAGERMAN:  We don't know that either way, but I suggest if I am that customer I would be holding off on that capacity until I received a payment if I knew one was available.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, presently, with respect to reverse open seasons that you conduct with respect to the Dawn-to-Parkway system, have you gotten enough turnback from that to not require any builds?

MR. HAGERMAN:  I can tell you, as far as this new capacity open season is concerned, a reverse open season isn't required, and no new facilities are required as a result of this open season.  We can manage the capacity requests with the facilities that we currently have in place.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Well, we will get to that, but that is actually not answering my question.  My question is:  Historically, you have run reverse open seasons; you are required to do them when you are considering an expansion.  Have the capacity that has been bid into a reverse open season bids enough to not require any builds that you otherwise would have expected?

MR. HAGERMAN:  I don't believe so, but I am not certain of that answer.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you undertake to let us know?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Maybe since we are not going back 40 years here, I'm really -- let's just say from the last set of rebasing applications or the last rebasing application.

MR. STEVENS:  So since 2013?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J7.5.
UNDERTAKING J7.5:  ENBRIDGE TO ADVISE WHETHER SINCE 2013 THE CAPACITY THAT HAS BEEN BID INTO REVERSE OPEN SEASON BIDS IS ENOUGH TO NOT REQUIRE ANY BUILDS THAT ENBRIDGE OTHERWISE WOULD HAVE EXPECTED.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mr. Hagerman, you mentioned a moment ago that, as a result of, I believe you said the recent open season, you don't require any new builds, so let me get back up here.  The recent open season you are speaking of is the one we just talked about, where the notice was provided and is K7.4?

MR. HAGERMAN:  That is correct, the open season that went to the market June 6th and closed on July 18th.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is the reason that there is no build that there was already existing capacity, so that you expect a reverse open season to not require that?  Can you just fill me in there?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Correct.  There was some capacity available, and we have an open season typically that we coordinate with upstream, other pipelines, i.e., TransCanada.  And we try to make sure that there is upstream and downstream capacity available for our customers.  So we coordinate an open season with them.  And we have a forecast as to how much new capacity we think is coming on board and, as a result of this, you know, there a real test to the market, here.

So we have customers come to us expressing demand for capacity and, until you have an open season and test the market, you don't know what you are going to get.  So we had the capacity available, and some of the customers that we thought might come online, did not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so was there a previous build that was associated with this open season that you had expected?

MR. HAGERMAN:  I am not sure what you mean by "a previous build"?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry.  Did you previously expect it.  Was there a forecast build that you expected to be undertaken because of this open season that you had now subsequently determined will not be required?

MR. HAGERMAN:  I am not sure that we had forecast a build.  We had a forecast for demand and capacity, but not necessarily was there a build specific to this open season.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can we turn the compendium?  Maybe the place to go is on page 9.  Since I am not sure this is evidence that necessarily was in this area, but just so you understand what this -- the table on this page and the last page was an update -- as far as the capital update, a table that shows various material investments in the, I guess, the revise costs and the revised in-service dates.

And if we go down to line 40, we see Dawn-Parkway expansion, first of all to Hamilton, in service in 2027.  Do you see that?

MR. DILLON:  Gord Dillon:  Yes, we see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Was that build in whole or in part driven by the open season that you had just completed?

MR. DILLON:  So Gord Dillon, once again:  That build for Kirkwall-Hamilton that you see is predicated on in-franchise growth, and one large industrial customer that we expect to come online that is in our forecast.  I believe Max was testing the market with his NCOS recently, the new capacity open season, and some of the bids that we expected to get did not come in on this open season.

But before we would look at building any of those projects, we would test again the following year with a new capacity open season and revisit the process once again.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So line 40, that facility was driven by primarily I think you just said, in-franchise demand as well as one large customer.  Do I have that correct?

MR. DILLON:  That is correct, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then, at line 43, we see another expansion project that I believe now is being pushed to 2029;  This is Dawn-to-Parkway expansion, Dawn-to-Inniskillen NPS 48; that is in service in 2029.  What is the driver of that expansion?

MR. DILLON:  Again, the driver for that expansion would still be the one large industrial customer, plus in-franchise growth that we see coming through the forecast.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But that large industrial customer, I assume that you mean that they are going to have an increased demand between 2027 and 2029?

MR. DILLON:  It is not necessarily an increased demand.  The first project would not quite cover the entire demand that we would expect from that large customer.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Now, as part of Mr. Rosenkranz's evidence, you asked some interrogatories.  And maybe we could go to 25.

Enbridge asked in this interrogatory, it quotes from the report, and then says:
"Please confirm this recommendation is applicable to the next rebasing proceeding, post-2024, and not the 2024 to 2028 time frame of this application.  If not confirmed, please explain what is being sought in this application."

And it confirms it.  But I am somewhat -- I was a little bit confused by your question:  Why was it Enbridge's view that this would be the recommendation, to undertake a buyout versus an open season concept, should not, would not be applicable to the 2024 to 2028 time frame?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Max Hagerman:  Can we take a moment to conference?

[Witness panel confers.]


I am not sure whey we positioned that question the way that we did, actually.  I think if we refer to the previous IR and our response, Mr. Rosenkranz's response was how that proposal would modify our cost allocation mechanism.  So perhaps that -- there was some overlap in that answer.  But I am not sure why we positioned this answer the way that we did.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Right.  And I will ask him why he confirmed the answer the way he did.

But you would agree with me that if you were going to undertake expansion facilities starting in 2027 and then another one in 2029, as we just walked through, you would need to do the -- before it was going to order, such a buyout option or reverse open season, you need do that far enough in advance.  Correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Max Hagerman:  Certainly, we would have to do a reverse open season, and in advance of the build, for sure.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That would, for both of those, likely occur between the 2024 and 2028 time frame.  Correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Agreed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you would agree with me that if the Board were going to order that such a proposal come in force or investigating that such a buyout option be implemented, it would have to do it in this proceeding presumably.  Correct?  It can't wait to the next one, at least for the builds for 2027 and 2029.  Correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  I believe, in regards to a build, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Now let me just ask about the reverse open season that you did -- sorry, the open season that you did or really even, we can talk about this large customer that is coming online or needs the capacity for 2027.

My understanding is that they would be required to sign 15-year contracts.  Correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  That is true, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I believe your, even under your reverse -- sorry, I apologize.  The open season that you just completed, the expectation is that they would begin to take service in 2027?

MR. HAGERMAN:  That was the understanding, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so if that is the case, and the contracts -- my math is correct -- the contracts would end in 2042?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Yes -- I had to do the math.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if there is a build because of this new demand, the 15-year contracts would not be sufficient to cover the costs of the expansion.  Correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Can I conference for a second, please?  That is correct; it would not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What is the current life, asset lives, of Dawn-Parkway to transmission pipe? - roughly speaking, I don't need an exact number here.

MS. MIKHAILA:  We wouldn't have that information with us.  But for purposes of this -- sorry, Amy Mikhaila:  We don't have that information with us but, for purposes of this discussion, I think we can assume something in the neighbourhood of 40 years-plus.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so assuming no changes in depreciation lives, less than half the pipe would be paid for at the end of these contracts.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, that is correct.  The assets would have an undepreciated value of greater than 50 percent of their value.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And for Enbridge's own in-franchise use, there is no contract.  Right?  You don't sign a contract with yourself here, correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so the demand may be lower over time than the 15 years.  Correct?  Maybe earlier.  The amount of additional in-franchise capacity that you are building for actually may be lower earlier than 2042.  Correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  I don't know that at this time.  It could be the same.  It could be lower.  It could be higher.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  For sure, you don't know that, but do you agree with me it could?

MR. HAGERMAN:  It could.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, if is lower and if the contracts that were signed for capacity beginning in 2027 and ending 2042 are not renewed, as I understand Enbridge's proposals in this application, the remaining cost would essentially just be borne by whoever is left using the system.  Do I have that right?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Amy Mikhaila.  We don't have any specific proposal in this application for anything different than the current cost-allocation methodology.  So that would result in customers who are on the system at that time paying for the cost of the system at that time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so what is Enbridge doing in this application now regarding the risk that, in 2042 -- let's just use that time frame -- there will be turnback on the Dawn-to-Parkway system so that the customers who are responsible for the expansion, those costs won't be borne by all other customers?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Max Hagerman.  We agree that there might be some risk, but, at this time, we don't see how that risk can be handled in this proceeding.  We have a large customer allocation and we are trying to manage that in this proceeding, and I think that perhaps the risk might be more clearly identified in a future proceeding.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Issue 38, as I understand, asks:  How should Dawn-to-Parkway capacity turnback risk be dealt with?  Is that your understanding of the issue, as well, as set out in the issues list?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Yes, it is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, as I understand your evidence, is your evidence that there is no capacity turnback risk?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Max Hagerman.  Our evidence, initially, was focused on the 2024 to 2028 rebasing term.  I think that's clear in the evidence that we put forward, as well ICF's and even Mr. Rosencrantz's evidence.  So we are still determining what that risk is longer-term, but we are fairly certain that the risk of turnback on the Dawn-to-Parkway system in this term is very low.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But, as I understand it, we looked at the evidence.  You are proposing during this term a build, correct, to expand the size of the Dawn-to-Parkway system in 2027.  Correct?  And then there is one, I believe, in 2029.  Correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Right now, we are proposing to satisfy that capacity.  If that capacity need changes, I mean, we will re-evaluate our position to make sure that we satisfy demand in the best way.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so I guess my question, again, is:  With respect to capacity turnback risk on the Dawn-to-Parkway system, what are you doing about it today?  What are you proposing to do about it?

MR. STEVENS:  It is David Stevens, Mr. Rubenstein.  Just to be clear, I think the witnesses have spoken about the evidence and how it is addressing the 2024 to 2028 term.  Do I understand your question to be more long-term, what Enbridge is doing to manage capacity turnback risk, let's say in your example, in 2042, when a contract for a new facility has lapsed?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, let me back up and let me ask this question.  As I understand ICF's evidence, which I think you adopt here, it's that there is essentially no turnback risk through 2028.  Correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you would agree me that, in this term, you are constructing assets, or propose to construct assets, on the Dawn-to-Parkway system that will last, I believe Ms. Mikhaila said, upwards of 50 years.  Correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  That is correct, but we are not necessarily -- I think the asset plan that you have before you is a 10-year asset management plan that was put together some 18 months ago.  Before we built those assets, we would return back to this Board to make sure that we built the necessary assets, or satisfied that demand in a different way.  We would go through the IRP process that we established to make sure that we didn't build unless we absolutely had to build.  So, to me, the asset that we put in place is the start point to start building our IRP analysis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so then do I take it that the question, really, about the -- your position, then, would be the capacity turnback risk with respect to a new build would be dealt with at the time that you bring forward a request to build that asset?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And, as I understand it, as of today, there is nothing the utility is specifically doing, or planning to do, with respect to that risk?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Other than the IRP process that I have previously mentioned and that we haven't gone into detail on, but that is in play.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Commissioner, I think that would be a logical time to take our lunch break.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  So we will adjourn until 1:15.
--- Recess taken at 12:31 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:18 p.m.

MR. MORAN:  Good afternoon.  Mr. Mondrow, I see you on screen.  Is there a preliminary matter?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. MONDROW:  There is, Sir.  Thank you.  I will only take, hopefully, a moment.  I wanted to address the schedule for Wednesday this week, which has been designated, I understand, as virtual only.  Our equity thickness witness, Dr. Cleary, is scheduled to appear on Wednesday, currently scheduled after Board staff's London Economics panel on the same topic and of course following Enbridge's equity thickness panel, which is scheduled to start, at this point, scheduled to start tomorrow morning sometime.

I would like to ask the hearing Panel to reconsider whether Wednesday should be virtual only or whether it might be changed to hybrid.

Enbridge's witnesses from Concentric, I understand, will be appearing in person tomorrow, and, on behalf of IGUA, we would like to seek the same opportunity to have our equity thickness witness attend and be examined in person.

You will know from previous correspondence that it is my view, and which IGUA supports, that that is the most effective way for IGUA to present its case.  We feel quite strongly about that.

I noted already that Enbridge will have its external experts here in person, so we would like the same.  Dr. Cleary is coming from Kingston, by the way, Kingston, Ontario, and so he is flexible.  Appearing anytime on Wednesday would be fine if it is relevant to the hearing Panel's deliberations on my request.  Whether we precede London Economics or follow them, it doesn't matter.  We will be ready either way.  Dr. Cleary can also be here Thursday morning if for some reason his appearance spills over.

I have alerted most parties, well, all parties here today, through the intervenor breakout room.  I have also corresponded directly with Enbridge.  They have no concerns with our request, and it is my understanding that Staff, while they will have their experts appear virtually only, also do not have any concerns with our request.  So I would like to ask for a reconsideration of that, Sir, and I am happy to answer any questions if you have any.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  No, I am not sure we have any questions, but we will consider it and then report back after the break.  How is that?

MR. MONDROW:  I would appreciate that.  Thank you very much.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  Mr. Rubenstein, are you ready to proceed, to continue?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, I am.  Thank you very much.  Panel, before I get into the PDO, I just wanted a couple of follow-up questions that arose from this morning's discussion.  Mr. Hagerman, there was a discussion earlier on today that I had with you, which I was asking about if Enbridge requires contract -- if it is expecting to undertake a new build or an expansion of its Dawn-to-Parkway -- or I guess this would apply to any transmission facility -- if it requires those with existing contracts to extend their contracts.  And you said:  At this time, you don't.  But you did mention, or at least how I had heard it, that there was an openness or you were considering that.  Is that fair?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Max Hagerman.  I agree that is fair.  We would consider a term-up provision as part of a new-capacity or new-facility build on Dawn-Parkway, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, so could I just specify:  You would consider it, or you are actually considering it right now?

MR. HAGERMAN:  If we are in a position, we would propose a term-up as part of a new-capacity build.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I just ask you in a general sense, because, obviously, you haven't done this yet, here, what do those normally look like; how long are those contracts extended?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Typically, they are 5 years.  We line that up with -- TransCanada also has a term-up provision that they utilize, and it is also a 5 year term-up.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And does the term-up provision require OEB approval, or is that something you do not need to or you do not need the OEB's approval for?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Max Hagerman.  I believe that we would need to seek approval to move forward with a term-up provision.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  I would like to move on to the issue of the historic PDO costs.  I will be up front.  Every time I think I understand this issue, I realize I don't fully understand it, so I'm going to walk through this issue today with you.  I believe it is in the compendium, Ms. Mikhaila.  I would like to just understand at a high level.  I am going to walk you through at least my understanding of a PDO settlement and what the issues were, and then understand as I understand Enbridge's position with respect to some of the arguments that were presented to you at the MAADs proceeding.  Let me start by this:  As I understand the issue that brings us all here with respect to historic PDO costs, it really arose because of contentions that FRPO made at the MAADs proceeding and Enbridge's response to them, that there was a double payment occurring.  Is that your understanding, as well?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Amy Mikhaila.  Yes, that is my understanding.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Maybe we can go to page 11 of the compendium.  As I understand, at that time, FRPO had argued that there should be a base-rate adjustment.  Is that your understanding?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, I think they were requesting a base-rate adjustment as part of our MAD proceeding.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As you can see on pages 10 and 11, there was sort of an outline of the arguments, and then, as I read at page 11, if we go down to "OEB Findings," the Board says:
"The OEB has determined that there is insufficient evidence to determine whether, as a result of the implementation of the PDO, ratepayers are paying twice for the same capacity.  The OEB requires Amalco to track actual costs and amounts recovered through rates related to the PDO during the deferred rebasing period.  The OEB at that time of rebasing will review the costs and amounts recovered through rates to ensure that ratepayers are not paying twice for the required capacity and the legacy Union Gas is not enhancing earnings contrary to the intent of the PDO agreement."

Do you see that?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, I see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so that is why this is an issue in this proceeding; the Board essentially, as I read the last decision, is essentially saying:  We don't have enough information; We'll deal with it at the next rebasing.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That is correct, and we have responded to the request to track actual costs and amounts recovered through rates in our pre-filed evidence.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So let me quickly recap what I understand to be the PDO, the Parkway Delivery Obligation settlement was all about because I wasn't personally involved in that proceeding, so, for at least my benefit, make sure I understand it correctly.  If we go back to the map on page 2 of the compendium, as I understand the state of play before the settlement was agreed to, there were certain amounts of direct-purchase customers who were required to deliver their gas to Union at Dawn.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  Dawn is a receipt point as well as Parkway.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And those customers who deliver to Dawn, Union would then redeliver the gas to them.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  For other customers, they were required to deliver their gas at Parkway.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That is correct.  There are also customers who have a combination of both Dawn and Parkway, but it is not one customer at one location; there are customers who have a receipt point of both Dawn and Parkway.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, so it is more accurate to say certain customers had capacity obligations to deliver their gas at Dawn and others had a certain amount of their obligations to deliver to Parkway?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  For those who deliver their gas to Parkway, as I understand, it was seen as a benefit to Union and to most other customers since most gas is actually required upstream of Dawn.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, I think the PDO agreement described it as an inequity between customers who delivered at Parkway and other customers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you disagree with how I put it?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Well, you had just mentioned that it was Union who was receiving a benefit, and the system is smaller, the Dawn-Parkway system is smaller than it otherwise would be had those deliveries not been at Parkway, but the inequity existed between direct-purchase customers delivering at Parkway and all other customers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  For those customers who delivered their gas to Parkway, as I understood, it didn't like that, at least comparatively to delivering their gas, potentially, at Dawn, because they would still have to ship the gas; they would be required to ship their gas to Parkway.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, they were required to deliver their gas at Parkway, whether they used -- I am not sure exactly how they got it to Parkway.  Some I do know use Dawn-Parkway, and others may use other paths.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But for those who use Dawn-Parkway, and the difference was some customers would have delivered their gas at Dawn, and Union would then deliver it to them.  Others would bring the gas into Dawn, and then they would have to pay to ship it up to Parkway.  Correct?  And that was more expensive?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we go to page 23 of the compendium, this is really what the first two paragraphs of the -- or at least the first paragraph of the "Context and Guiding Principles" section of the Parkway delivery obligation settlement, again.  Is that correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, it is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so as I understand the agreement in the PDO framework had two parts.  First, customers who had to deliver their gas to Union at Parkway, they got what was known as the Parkway Delivery Commitment Incentive.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That is one of the parts.  I am not sure if it is the first part, but there was a date at which customers who continued to deliver at Parkway would then be paid the Parkway delivery commitment incentive, or PDCI.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the PDCI was essentially to compensate them for having to transport their gas from Dawn to Parkway.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, that is the -- how the PDCI is calculated.  The actual costs customers incur to deliver their gas at Parkway, I can't speak to.  But that is how the PDCI credit is derived.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the second part of the framework as I understand it is that Union would help facilitate as much as they could those customers who had obligations to deliver at Parkway, to move that obligation to Dawn.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That is part of this framework, as well.  And the capacity that was required to move the customers from Parkway to Dawn was to be created from Dawn, ex-franchise Dawn to Kirkwall turnback.  That was all --

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We are going to get there.

 MS. MIKHAILA:  Thank you.

 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I promise we are going to get there.

 MS. MIKHAILA:  Okay.

 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to take this, as baby steps at a time.

 And so as I understand what is referred to in the IRs and the tables, the movement of the obligation to deliver at Parkway, to Dawn, is what is known as the PDO shift.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, it is.

 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But from Union's perspective -- at the time, this was Union -- to service their in-franchise customers, they still needed to move gas to Parkway.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, they did.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so to Union and later, Enbridge, it was viewed as that this PDO shift had a cost, to them.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  The PDO shift does require Dawn-Parkway capacity to facilitate the shift.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so it has a cost.  Correct?  From Union's, and then Enbridge's, perspective?

MS. MIKHAILA:  The cost of the Dawn-Parkway system?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, as I understand from Union's perspective that when it undertakes the PDO shift, because it now needs to bring that gas to Parkway, there is a cost to them.  Do I have that incorrect?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, that is the cost.  The cost to Union, now Enbridge, is the Dawn-Parkway capacity that we are no longer generating revenue on because of the Dawn-to-Kirkwall turnback.  And the Dawn-to-Kirkwall capacity and demands was built into the 2013 cost-of-service forecast.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand it, the cost of the PDO shift is really two parts.  The first is that you required incremental compressor fuel because you need to actually move the gas, and that involves the use of the compressors, the incremental use of the first compressors, and that requires incremental fuel.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, it does.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then the second part, and I think this is what you are talking about, is that you need -- it is the cost of the capacity to move the gas along the Dawn-to-Parkway system.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go to page 211 -- sorry, page 20 of the compendium, this is the reply argument from, I think what was known as Amalco in the MAADs application, Union and Enbridge Gas.  And, at paragraph 211, there is a quotation from Mr. Kitchen.  It is the underlined portion that says:
 "When you move the deliveries from Parkway to Dawn, you need facilities equivalent to get the gas back to Parkway, because that is where it is needed.  And so the costs that were built into rates in 2015 and throughout the last term of the IRM were costs associated with facilitating that shift.  So, in essence, customers were getting an additional service, and they paid for that service."

 Do you see that?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that is what you are talking about.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, it is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But am I correct, that is not a real cost in the sense that Union at the time, and now Enbridge, was not paying someone else to move that gas, or paying something to use their own capacity. It is really a notional cost.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  In that sense, it is not a cost.  However, built in our 2013 forecast was the generation of revenue from the Dawn to Kirkwall capacity that was used to facilitate the PDO shift.  So that revenue, if it were used for the PDO without compensation, the company would have no opportunity to generate that revenue during its incentive regulation term.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so it is not actually the costs which you are seeking to recover.  It is essentially revenue that you would -- sorry, capacity that you otherwise would have sold and gotten revenue in another way.  Correct?  That is really what we are talking about here?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  We did lose the opportunity to market that capacity for revenue.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But the capacity was built into rates.  Correct?  Those were approved as part of the 2013 Union approvals.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  The Dawn-to-Kirkwall capacity end demands were built into the 2013 forecast.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And am I correct that the turnback that you are speaking about, the Dawn-to-Kirkwall turnback, isn't actually tied to the PDO shift in the sense that if there was no PDO settlement, it is not as if there wouldn't be that turnback.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Sorry, can you say that again?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct that the Dawn-to-Kirkwall turnback that you are talking about is not tied to the PDO shift?  By that I mean if there was no PDO framework, PDO settlement, you would still have had that Dawn-to-Kirkwall turnback.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, we would have.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so the fact that you may use or you may have used Dawn-to-Kirkwall turnback to facilitate the PDO shift, that turnback would have existed regardless?

MS. MIKHAILA:  The turnback would have existed, but the capacity also would have been available to us to market and generate revenue from.

 I will also add to that, though:  the PDO settlement framework was very explicit that we were to -- we would use Dawn-to-Kirkwall turnback to shift PDO.  We would use the amount of capacity that was generated from the turnback to shift an equal amount of PDO.  So, if we had the turnback, we would then shift PDO.

 It is very linked in, the PDO settlement framework, as well as the recovery of that Dawn-Parkway demand cost, in rates of in-franchise Customers, is very explicit in the PDO settlement framework.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand that.  I understand that the PDO settlement talks were using Dawn-to-Kirkwall turnback to facilitate the shift.  I was just trying to understand, it is not as if that turnback only existed because of the PDO framework. Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And so as you were just mentioning, when we are talking about compensating Union for use of that turnback capacity, what we really mean is that we are compensating Union because it otherwise would not have used that capacity and sell it in the market, correct, and generate those revenues?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Now as I understand before the PDO settlement in 2014, in 2012, Union had its last rebasing proceeding to set 2023 rates?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, it did.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we can turn up page 14 of the compendium, this is an attachment at 4.7, FRPO 169.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, I have it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in column A, as I understand it, that's what is included in 2013 rates.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, it is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that was the last time Union had rebased?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, it was.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I should say that the Union rate zone, as well, had rebased.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so, as I read it, what was built into rates was the cost of the Dawn-to-Parkway system of 6,803, I think, TJs per day.  It's on line 3.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  That was the capacity of the Dawn-to-Parkway system at that time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the entire costs of the Dawn-to-Parkway system at that time was included in rates.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, if we go down to line 6 here, we see the revenue forecast, or the forecast utilization, of capacity in the Dawn-to-Parkway system included in 2023 rates was only 6,593 TJs a day.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so then, at line 7, what I see is that built into rates was the excess capacity of 210 TJs a day.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so, as I understand that, all customers were paying for that excess capacity.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, they are.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And insofar as that excess capacity ultimately is purchased, as I understand, those additional revenues go to Enbridge's bottom line.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  It is included in utility earnings, subject to earnings sharing.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Right.  So, if the there is earnings sharing, there may be some sharing of earnings as if there would be any -- for the same reason there would be any sharing of earnings.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Even that is only 50/50, correct?  Above a dead band?  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  I believe that is currently the mechanism we are under.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Right.  And even before that, I believe, I don't recall exactly, but Union had a different mechanism.  I think it had a different split.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  There was a different split.  There was a threshold at which we shared 90/10.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But, during the deferred rebasing period, as I understand, there has been no sharing.  Correct?  At least so far into 2022.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so, insofar as that capacity was sold, ultimately, all of the additional revenue went to Enbridge's shareholders.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, as I understand FRPO's argument at the MAADs application when it argued for base rate adjustment, it was that, since customers were paying for that 210 TJs a day of excess capacity in their base rates, ratepayers should not pay additional capacity to facilitate the PDO shift.  That is my understanding, at a high level, of their argument.  Is that your understanding, as well?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That's my understanding, as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's the double payment argument.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, it is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, my review of the reply argument in the MAADs proceed was Enbridge's position was that the 210 TJs of excess capacity was essentially irrelevant because the PDO settlement, which happened after the cost of service application, was based on the idea of keeping Union whole, as compared to what would have happened absent the settlement.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, that's correct.  In 2013 cost of service, Union had the ability to market the 210 TJs of excess capacity for contracting, and any revenue would be to Union at the time and included in utility earnings, subject to earnings sharing.  And that is the context against which Union was to be kept whole of the PDO settlement framework.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And when you say they were allowed to, there wasn't something explicit about that.  It was essentially just a normal, you know, what happens if you gather more revenue than you forecast.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That is correct.  And it was also explicitly discussed in the 2013 cost of service, which you have in your compendium on page 18, where the Board at that time, the OEB Panel, reviewed the long-term forecast.  And there were parties at the time who suggested that there should be a deferral account to return that revenue to ratepayers, and the Board at the time rejected the request for a deferral account and it stated that it believed that Union should continue to bear this forecast risk, consistent with the current treatment.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And so, when you were talking about how was about keeping Union whole, as compared to if there was no settlement agreement, it is my understanding that that's what your interpretation of paragraph A(3) of the settlement agreement is.  And that is on page 23.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Where it says that the ultimate objective of the modified proposals to remedy inequality, the guiding principles to keep Union whole rather than enhance or reduce earnings during the operation of the incentive regulation mechanism IRM to December 31, 2018.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That's correct.  And it does state in that guiding principle that it's during the operation of the IRM, not a recalculation of a 2013 forecast.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so, while it's correct that, before the settlement proposal, Union got the benefit of customers paying 210 TJs a day in excess capacity and base rates to keep them whole, it would be Enbridge's position that they must still get the benefit of the 210 TJs a day in excess capacity in base rates, and that could not have been applied against the PDO cost.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That's correct.  Because the PDO settlement framework that we have on the screen here was the outcome of a request from customers and it was a negotiated agreement between Union and the customers and approved by the OEB.  And it was a service that Union worked on with parties to facilitate that PDO shift.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, as I understand how capacity or gas demand works on the Dawn-to-Parkway system, literal space in the pipe isn't actually reserved for anyone's actual use.  Right?  Gas molecules aren't colour-coded.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That's correct.  They are not colour-coded.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so surplus capacity is surplus capacity regardless of its source.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Be it that it would be surplus capacity from 210 TJs a day that were included in base rates for Dawn-to-Parkway -- sorry, Dawn-to-Kirkwall turnback or some other reason.  It's all surplus capacity that the company manages.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I think that's fair.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so, as a practical matter, the fact that the PDO shift used capacity from the 210 TJs a day of excess capacity, or new capacity that was constructed through many of the Dawn-to-Parkway builds during the IRM term that were subject to Y factors, or Dawn-to-Kirkwall turnback, it doesn't actually matter.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  The capacity that was used for the PDO shift, I guess, if you're not colour-coded molecules, doesn't matter.  However, the agreement provided a return of the revenue from the Dawn-to-Kirkwall turnback through this agreement.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I take it you are agreeing with me, but you are also saying, but the agreement says something different.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Well, the Dawn-to-Kirkwall turnback that was used for the PDO shift came with a loss of revenue.  We were generating revenue from ex-franchise customers.  They turned back that capacity.  We no longer were generating that revenue.  We agreed to use that capacity to shift customers from Parkway to Dawn in return for an equal amount of revenue in the rates of in-franchise customers to pay for the PDO shift.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Could I ask you to turn to page 27 of the compendium.  This is where I get bit confused with the agreement.

If we take a look at section 10 -- this under annual reporting -- and if we flip over to the next page, after the footnote 1, it says:
"Parties further agree that ratepayers will be entitled to recover from Union that portion of costs incurred by Union to manage the Parkway delivery shortfall to the extent that the costs of the measures used by Union to manage the shortfall are already covered in base rates, Y factors, and/or existing deferral and variance accounts.

Do you see that?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so I read this as customers get their money if the costs ultimately to facilitate to PDO shift are already included in rates and they are being paid somewhere else.

MS. MIKHAILA:  I don't agree with that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then how would you --


MS. MIKHAILA:  I'll explain why.  That paragraph that you just read discusses the portion of the costs incurred by Union to manage the Parkway delivery shortfall.  Just give me one moment.  If we can turn to page 26 of your compendium and you look at the paragraph(ii), the Parkway delivery shortfall is only -- or was only in relation to the temporarily available capacity.  If we read the paragraph (ii), it says:
"Effective November 1, 2015, the temporarily available Dawn-to-Parkway capacity will be used for other purposes, leaving Parkway in a delivery shortfall position."

And that is the situation where -- if you refer back to the paragraph 10 that you were referring to.  If we turn one page earlier, to page 25 of your compendium, the fourth bullet point in paragraph 2 says:
"Between November 1, 2017 and October 31, 2018, no Parkway delivery shortfall."

Because, at that time, effective October 31, 2018, is when there would have been sufficient Dawn-to-Kirkwall turnback to eliminate any Parkway delivery shortfall that would have existed as a result of the temporarily available Dawn-Parkway capacity that was used in the early years of the PDO shift.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Right, so I am just reading that part of 10(c) incorrectly?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  10(c) is only regarding the Parkway delivery shortfall, which was where the Dawn-Parkway system could have been in a short position because we temporarily -- sorry, we moved on a permanent basis customers' PDO from Parkway to Dawn, using capacity that was only temporarily available until the time we had permanent Dawn-Kirkwall turnback.  And so, during that interim period where the Dawn-Parkway system could have been in a shortfall position as a result of the PDO shift, where we didn't have the permanent capacity yet available at that time, that is what this paragraph 10(c) is referring to, and that situation no longer exists as of October 31, 2018.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So my interpretation or my understanding is incorrect.  What you are saying, then, is that customers don't get their money back if the costs to facilitate the PDO shift were already included in base rates or somewhere else.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That is not the agreement, that customers get their -- get their money back, using your words.  The inclusion of the demand costs associated with the Dawn-to-Kirkwall turnback is clear in the PDO settlement framework to be included in the delivery rates of in-franchise customers.  It was only in a situation where that PDO shift resulted in the Dawn-Parkway system being in a shortfall position and we used means to manage that shortfall that were included in delivery rates that they were entitled to some of those costs back.  And that is the paragraph 10(c), but it is not in relation to the entire PDO settlement or the entire PDO shift.  It was only for that temporarily available capacity.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, as I said in my question, what you are saying is what is not included in the agreement is that customers get their money back if the costs to facilitate the PDO shift were included in base rates or is being paid for somewhere else, Y factor, deferral, and variance account?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, that is not in the agreement.  The agreement is they pay for the capacity of the Dawn-to-Kirkwall turnback in delivery rates.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go back to paragraph 20 -- sorry, page 23 of the compendium, that is A3 -- what we see is that, as I understand, that the guiding principles and the agreement were agreed to in the context of the operation of the incentive-regulation mechanism to December -- that was supposed to end on December 31, 2028?  Sorry, 2018.  My apologies.  Let me repeat that.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct that the context that is set out in A3 was that the settlement framework for the reduction of the Parkway delivery obligations was premised on the guiding principle to keep Union whole rather than enhance and reduce its earnings during the operation of the incentive-regulation mechanism that was supposed to end on December 31, 2018.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, that is the guiding principle, was to keep Union whole at the state, the framework, we were under at the time the PDO settlement framework was set, and so denial of recovery of those costs at this time would not be keeping Union whole to the framework we were under, and it would have reduced our earnings.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, so just so I am clear, in my understanding, the MAADs proceeding was not just about approving the transaction of the merger of Union Gas and Enbridge Gas Distribution, but it was also a rate-setting framework that was set up to begin in January 1, 2019.  Do I have that right?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, you do have that right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so that was after the December 31, 2018 date contemplated in the settlement framework for the reduction of the PDO.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, it was, but the concept of -- the context of keeping Union whole would still have been -- Union and now Enbridge Gas would not have been kept whole per this agreement if there would have been base-rate adjustment.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just to be clear, we are talking about being kept whole as compared to if there was no settlement framework.  Correct?  That is what the keeping Union whole is.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What it is not about, correct, is ensuring that Union is kept whole as compared to what customers would have been paying if there was rebasing, correct, or if the PDO was in place in 2013.  Correct?  That is not the issue.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Sorry.  Can you rephrase that again?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to make sure when we talk about keeping Union whole, in the context of your comment about we need to keep Union whole, even though the agreement ended, was contemplated ending, at the end of the 31st, December 31, 2018, it is about keeping Union whole as compared to what it would be, what position it would be in if there had not been the PDO framework, not about keeping Union whole and keeping customers whole as compared to what would have happened if the PDO shift was taking place within the context of the 2013 settlement -- sorry, the 2013 rate case or something to that nature.  Correct?  That's what we're talking about.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, it was keeping Union whole in the framework they were under at the time the PDO settlement was negotiated.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the context, as I understand it, of what brought this issue was in the context of a base-rate adjustment beginning in 2019.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, it was.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You would agree with me that what would be okay during the IRM term because of the specifics of the settlement proposal may not necessarily be the case after the date the PDO settlement was contemplated to conclude.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  What was contemplated to conclude December 31, 2018 with the expectation Union would be rebasing January 1, 2019.  That did not happen.  We went from one IR framework to another IR framework.  And in that case, rates are still -- continue to be decoupled from costs.  And the framework as we see it continued until the next rebasing.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct that in the rebasing -- or sorry, in the MAADs application, the rate framework application, Union had requested some base rate adjustment; some were approved, some, I believe, were denied.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I believe that is true.  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Okay, so Union -- sorry, I apologize.  Union-Enbridge, or Enbridge Gas, now, obviously made some adjustments to its base rates.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, we did.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you, very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Sorry, I would like to just add on to that last point, Mr. Rubenstein, if I may.  I would just like to point out that with the payment of the PDCI, now also in play with the PDO settlement framework, that that PDO shift did occur prior to the MAADs hearing, and the rate-setting mechanism from 2019.

But had that shift not occurred and those deliveries were still being made at Parkway, that would have resulted in also higher -- or a similar cost to ratepayers as the PDO shift that is happening today, because we would paying a higher PDCI unit rate on the -- a higher PDO, Parkway delivery obligation.

And so the costs that are in in-franchise rates today and have been up until the 2024 rebasing are very similar to the costs that would have been in their rates if we had just paid a PDCI on the entire amount, without shifting any of it.

So customers got the service they requested which was to move their obligations from Parkway to Dawn.  And there is no, I would say, more -- no additional cost to that because if that agreement had not been facilitated and that shift had not occurred, the company would be paying the PDCI or, I guess, if the agreement hadn't agreed, but if we continued to pay the PDCI on all PDO and no shift occurred, there would have been a higher PDCI cost in the rates of in-franchise customers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But a shift did occur.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Sorry?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But the shift did occur?

MS. MIKHAILA:  But the shift did occur.  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And also as I understand built into base rates, that base rates continued, decoupled from costs included the 210 in TJs a day of excess capacity.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, it did.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you, very much, for your questions and your assistance.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Thank you.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, very much, Mr. Rubenstein.  I think next we have FRPO.  Mr. Quinn.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Yes.  Thank you, Commissioner Moran and good afternoon, panel.  I am Dwayne Quinn here on behalf of FRPO.  So I am just finding my spot here, following up Mr. Rubenstein, which I was happy to do.  He took you through a lot of the high-level aspects of the Parkway deliveries, the settlement agreement, to clarify some of these aspects to the Board.  We may refer to his compendium in our discussions, as I did not want to duplicate effort.  But I did submit a compendium that had some additional material which may be helpful for our discussions.

And I was wondering, Mr. Millar, if we could mark that as an exhibit?

MR. MILLAR:  Certainly.  Let's call that Exhibit K7.5.
EXHIBIT K7.5:  FRPO COMPENDIUM FOR ENBRIDGE PANEL 2.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So we want to try to address and make clear some of the principles that were flowing from these agreements and the impact through the merger proceeding and the subsequent impact on ratepayers.

First, would you agree with me that Parkway deliveries benefit all rate classes by reducing facilities needed, and the resulting costs of those facilities?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I agree with that.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So Mr. Rubenstein led you through the original 210 TJ surplus that was included in the recoveries of Dawn-Parkway transport in the 2013 rebasing proceeding.  And would I be correct in saying the cost of that additional -- sorry, the original 210 TJs of surplus, that cost would have been spread across all customer classes, including ex-franchise customers?  Stopping there, do I have that right?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I think that is fair.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And Ms. Monforton, if we can go to page 2 of our compendium.  Initially, I think it covers the Board's decision.  I think you walked through this sufficient, with Mr. Rubenstein, but I am just -- I want to get clarity on this part.  There were costs spread that would have been spread around ex-franchise customers, and Enbridge was an ex-franchise customer of Union at that time.  Correct.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, they were.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So the costs of capacity that fed the Enbridge in-franchise customers would have included some of that 210 TJ surplus?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Okay.  Sure, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I am just trying to make sure I walk through this slowly.  And for understanding, Mr. Rubenstein has done an excellent job.  He and I may or may not agree at the end of the day on what relief we might seek, but our dialogue together has helped me understand a little bit more of his perspective.  And hopefully, by understanding Enbridge's perspective, we may be able to recommend to the Board something that is equitable for all.  And so that is why I am going through it slowly, Ms. Mikhaila.

If we can turn to page 4, I just want to refer to it briefly because you have seen it already -- page 4 of our compendium, sorry.  And so this is the table that has been referred to under FRPO 169.  And in this copy here, we had moved it to Excel so that we could make sure that in any further sheets which will come after it, there was no mistranscription of numbers because we just did a copy and paste, but we needed an Excel to start.

So you will recognize this table as the first page of the table that was included with FRPO 169?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, I do.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  So if we move to page 5, we created a second sheet.  This is where I want to walk through this together, again, to make sure that we are all on the sage page.

And so I was trying to take the same line numbers which I have included in the grey area, those are line numbers taken directly from FRPO 169 that include these different concepts of -- I am trying to read from the screen here, but what was in the cost of service and -- thank you, Ms. Monforton.

In line 1 was, you know, the cost of service, at line 2 is the incremental builds and line 3 is the total capacity.  Stopping there for 2013, 2014, all of that, there was no build in 2013/2014, so you had 6803 TJs of total capacity in base rates.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So I included a couple other lines which will be 8 and 9, which were capacity that was utilized for the purposes of the PDO over the years.  And those numbers are taken again directly from FRPO 169.  Do you have any concerns with those numbers?

MS. MIKHAILA:  No, I don't have any concerns with the numbers.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And I hear a but coming, but we will walk through that in a moment.  The last line then is I am saying -- well, I have entitled it "The capacity generating revenue at M12."  So what I have added is the line 3 and lines 8 and 9.  And so this doesn't have any pertinence to the numbers under 2013 and 2014, because we have 6803.  And so there was no incremental capacity generating revenue.  Enbridge has the opportunity to use the 6,803 to generate revenue and that was reflected in base rates for customers.  Are we on the same page at this point, Ms. Mikhaila?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I do see what you've done here.  I will wait for the next question, perhaps.

MR. QUINN:  But you do see what -- okay.  I understand where you may have something different to say.

If we move to 2014/2015, which again had the same cost-of-service capacity in base rates of 6,803, but, down below, we have started the process of moving Parkway deliveries to Dawn.  And I think you were helpful to Mr. Rubenstein in expressing your views on the capacity that was used, but the temporarily available capacity of 146 allowed that amount of direct-purchased gas to be delivered at Dawn instead of Parkway and, in this case, generating additional revenue by ratepayers paying for that opportunity to have that delivery construct, to the tune of 146 TJs.

So do you agree that the temporarily available capacity was utilized 2014?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I do agree with the winter 2014/2015, that there was 146 TJs of capacity that did generate incremental revenue.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  And so I have totalled those two numbers into the new line 24, which is the sum of all of the lines in that column, to generate 6,949 TJs of capacity-generating revenue at M12 rate.  Do you agree with that?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Well, I do agree that we generated revenue from the sale of the temporarily available capacity of 146.  I personally don't know if I would add the capacity together.  It looks like we have more capacity than we do, which I don't think is a correct representation of the capacity.

But I do agree that, in winter 2014/2015, we sold 146 TJs of capacity, likely from the 210 that existed in the winter of 2013/2014.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And, to be clear, I am not suggesting that you have more capacity.  I am suggesting you have more revenue because you are selling the 146 on top of the 6,803 already in base rates, so that the total amount of capacity-generating revenue is the total of 6,949.  Do you agree with that?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I do agree.  And I think that's what I was just discussing with Mr. Rubenstein, that, to the extent we were able to sell the 210 TJs of capacity, that revenue did flow to the shareholder in utility earnings, subject to earnings sharing.  And I think that is what you are representing here.

MR. QUINN:  Right.  And so, we would differ, as we did in the merger proceeding, about what we call that.  We called that -- as FRPO, we called that double recovery.  Enbridge disagreed and the Board asked us to account.  So that is why I am walking through this, Ms. Mikhaila, in a way that hopefully helps the Board see it maybe more simply than it did in the previous proceeding.

So I just want to address 2015, and I am not going to -- there's some signaling between panel and yourselves.  I'm not going to walk through every year.  I just want to make sure the mechanics are correct.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Well, I would like to go to winter 2015/2016 to illustrate a different  point.

MR. QUINN:  Yes, okay.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Because I think it changes in the winter 2015/2016 from what I agreed to in the winter 2014/2015.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I will allow you to proceed if you want to clarify.

MS. MIKHAILA:  I think what this is missing is the turnback, the Dawn-to-Kirkwall turnback.  So you have added 123 TJs per day in the winter 2015/2016, but haven't then shown an equivalent negative for the revenue that we are no longer getting from ex-franchise customers.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That's --


MS. MIKHAILA:  I think it might be more clearly illustrated on Exhibit I.4.7-FRPO-169, which was, I think, a similar Excel file that you recreated.

MR. QUINN:  Ms. Monforton, I think --

MS. MIKHAILA:  I would like -- I would just like to illustrate this.

MR. QUINN:  Can we bring it up on the screen.  Yes, 169, Ms. Monforton, and attachment 1.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Attachment 1.  So this is illustrated on line 21.

MR. QUINN:  If we could make that a little clearer for not only myself, but, I trust, for the panel members, please.

MS. MIKHAILA:  So, on line 21, we have presented the demand revenue from temporarily available capacity, which in the winter 2014/2015 is the 146 you illustrated in your Excel file.  And so the revenue on that was the $4.5 million, and I agree that that is a sale of a portion of the 210 TJs of capacity.

But then, the winter 2015/2016, we did have Dawn-to-Kirkwall turnback and so the sale of that temporarily available capacity, or the 210 TJs, decreases to 796,000.  So line 21 illustrates the revenue that we earned above, I guess, the amount in base rates prior to turnback; the loss of revenue from turnback.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I followed you to this page and we are going to -- I want to walk through the 2015/2016 specifically.  And I ask this question:  When the 123 TJs of Dawn-to-Kirkwall turnback was utilized for the purposes of PDO shift, what happened to the temporarily available capacity that went down to 23?

MS. MIKHAILA:  It was contracted for by ex-franchise shareholders, I believe.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Where do you show that in your spreadsheet, in this exhibit?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That isn't represented in here.  That was the framework Union was under at the time; had the ability to market the 210 TJs for revenue.

MR. QUINN:  So, Ms. Mikhaila, you said that we were missing something in our depiction.  But, in your depiction, you have now said, Okay, here is what we are missing out on, but you haven't shown the other side of the equation that you were able to sell the 123.  So, while you had Dawn-to-Kirkwall revenue that was associated with the 123, you were also able to sell that.

So how has that forgone demand revenue, when the Dawn-to-Kirkwall essentially just replaced the temporary surplus that got sold?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Mr. Quinn, that was the framework we were under at time.  I am not shying away from the fact that the company has sold not all, but a portion of the 210 throughout the IRM term, and that is the framework we were under.

MR. QUINN:  So you were under that framework, but, in my depiction, if we can go back to the next page, page -- sorry, I lost my page number here, but the page that we were on.  Thank you.  I have two different copies here.

So when I'm talking about the 146 in winter 2015/2016, it includes the 123 of Dawn-to-Kirkwall, which you are getting revenue for.  You would agree with that?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Sorry, can you just state that again?

MR. QUINN:  So line 9 is 123 of Dawn-to-Kirkwall.  And you would be using that for PDO, so you would be compensated for those demand costs for 123 TJs from the PDO agreement.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. QUINN:  And you would, notwithstanding you were concerned that we were missing this in our spreadsheet, you were able to transfer that 123 of temporary surplus into actual demand or actual contracts that were sold, generating revenue for that, also.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, I think the thing, though, that this is missing is it is assuming that all PDO is incremental.  And, if we go back to FRPO 169, there are cases where the Dawn-Parkway system is still in a shortfall position, and I would argue that is perhaps missing from this.

MR. QUINN:  But, if it is in a shortfall position, Ms. Mikhaila, you have oversold.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Sorry, I meant to say an excess position.  There are cases -- like, there are cases where we were still in an excess position, as well.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I am going to talk about that.  It will be worthwhile to go through 2015.  We can start on 169 now that I can see it on my tablet.  You built capacity in that year, did you not?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  The 433?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, we did.

MR. QUINN:  And so you built 433, and, dropping down to the line that you were drawing our attention to, you do actually have a deficit of capacity relative to demands.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, that was the Parkway delivery shortfall that I was discussing with Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. QUINN:  And so you have in essence oversold your capacity, taking into account that you have a Parkway delivery shift?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, we have, and we were under a framework that permitted us to sell the 210 TJ for revenue.

MR. QUINN:  Right, but you were concerned that you were -- and the term is "at risk" for your sales, so, if you are in a deficit position in terms of capacity relative to demand, you have oversold, so you have actually done well; if you are in a surplus position, you have not sold all that you would have been capable otherwise of selling, and so you are at risk and you get a -- you don't -- you have an opportunity cost associated with the revenue you did not achieve.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I think we are pretty much on the same page, then.  If I may ask because -- oh.

Before I go too far, Mr. Moran, I will be considerably longer than the break might take.  Did you have a time in mind that you would like me to identify as an appropriate break time?  I can wait if you want to consider that, Commissioner Moran.  I will carry on my with my questions, but I will check in with you shortly.  Otherwise, I will -- and I think the original schedule said 2:45 -- the adjusted schedule would be around 2:45, so I will try to break around 2:45 in respect of the court reporter and the witnesses.

If we may go back on my compendium to page 5 of the compendium, please, page 5, page number 5, it is PDF 6.  Thank you.

So I was walking you through this, and again we -- I don't want to get into argument with you, Ms. Mikhaila.  You have been very helpful in clarifying a few things.  But I want to just fast-forward with this because, over the next few years -- and this is why I used "capacity", because the capacity was built and it tended to make things more difficult to see, but, if we just look at the winter of '18/'19 this would include the January 1, 2019 of the new company, and so, at that point, you had the original base-rate assets of 6803 and additional builds of 1332 for a total of capacity cost in rate base plus capital flow-through of 8135.  Do you agree with that?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, I do.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So, because you have some additional Dawn-Kirkwall turnback, that Dawn-Kirkwall turnback is now 200 in line 5.  So we may or may not agree on the terminology, but the addition of capacity-generating revenue at the M12 rate would now be 8335 for that winter.  Is that correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I don't think it is complete, Mr. Quinn, only because it doesn't contemplate the fact that that winter we also had 114 TJ excess capacity.

MR. QUINN:  Whose responsibility is that, that you had the excess capacity?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Any excess capacity is to Union's risk as well as the benefit of the sale of 210 TJ that we had excess in 2013, so that is why I don't think this is complete if we want to talk about what was the capacity that was generating revenue.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I think we might have an opportunity to do that.  And I may have exhausted the usefulness of this page, so, if we can, turn to the next page.  Because what you didn't say there and you explored a little with Mr. Rubenstein, and I am going to try not to go over what you have gone over with him, but we are trying to look at this as:  What happened in the previous rebasing, and what may have happened if Union had rebased its costs into rates at the end of the primary IRM period?  So, starting of course again with '13/'14, the last year of rebasing, I provided the ex-franchise and the Union South and North percentage allocations from the previous rebasing.  To be clear, Ms. Mikhaila, I didn't get down to percentage, like a decimal point, because this is an illustrative example.  But would you agree with me that, at the last rebasing in 2013, approximately 84 percent of the capacity was utilized for ex-franchise so the percentage allocation of costs went 84 percent to the ex-franchise and similarly 11 percent to Union South and 5 percent to Union North?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I agree that was the cost allocation of the Dawn-Parkway system in 2013.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So moving that into actual allocations, we started the first talking about the surplus capacity of 210 that the Board included in the recoveries for the utility in the 2013 rebasing proceeding.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So tell me if this is incorrect, but, using the allocation factors that were in place, essentially the ex-franchise customers would bear the cost of approximately 176 TJs of the 210 because costs were allocated 84 percent to that rate class.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I think it is fair to say that, if an equivalent of 176 TJs of demand had been included in the ex-franchise demand forecasts, they would have been allocated a similar cost.

MR. QUINN:  This is the 8411, 5 percentages I gave you.  Those came from the demand forecast, did they not?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, they did.

MR. QUINN:  So what was incorrect that you are trying to clarify in answering my question?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Well, the 210 isn't really split out across the different customer classes.  If they had an additional demand forecast, and so the Dawn-Parkway system was essentially neutral, then they would have been allocated a similar cost.  So they are allocated a cost equal to an amount of demands that would have been 176 TJ higher.

MR. QUINN:  I am still lost in what is the difference between what I said and you said.  So I asked --


MS. MIKHAILA:  It might be helpful if you move maybe to the next question?  I am not sure where you are going with it, so.

MR. QUINN:  Well, actually, I am going to ask this question because I want clarity on behalf of the Board, and because we have clearly had a difference of opinion last time, and the Board asked for the accounting.  So I am trying to help with the accounting on a principled basis.  So if there is 210 TJs surplus capacity, how is that cost allocated to customers?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I think it is fair to say that the costs were allocated as if these demands were included in the allocation.  They weren't.  But the 210 TJs, I guess I am just hesitant to say that the 210 TJs is split across these customer groups in this manner.  The 210 TJs was Union's to sell to any group of customers to generate revenue on.

MR. QUINN:  I agree that it could be sold to any customers.  But their costs were allocated based upon the 84 percent as an example, for ex-franchise.  Correct?  So you would take --


MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, and I did confirm that the cost allocation was equal to, as if 176 TJ was added to the demands.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So 176 TJs at the M12 rate, the going M12 rate for that year would have been allocated to the ex-franchise rate class?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Sorry, can you confirm what you mean by the going-in 12 rate?  For what?

MR. QUINN:  The M12 rate that was approved by the Board for the year of 2014, that is the cost that would be attributed to the -- that is how you would use -- that is how the cost for the ex-franchise rate class would be developed in allocating additional cost that was related to the surplus capacity?

MS. MIKHAILA:  In relation to 2013?  Yes.  Because in 2013, we did rebase and our rates were based off costs.  In 2013, that capacity times the M12 rate would have been the cost allocated to ex-franchise.  And I think you had referred to 2014 but, at that point, our rates and our costs are decoupled.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That is the distinction you are trying to make.  So I will accept your corrections to 2013 rates, and it is the M12 rate for that year?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I think we have clarity on that.  And I am going to go back to the builds in a short while.  But you had expressed that at the end of 2018 you still had a surplus of 114.  And I think you agreed with me that that was to Union Gas's responsibility, or their risk.  Is that correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, the 2013 cost of service, any Dawn-Parkway forecast was to the benefit -- or benefit or risk, of Union.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So I use this capacity concept to simplify it, because costs were changing.  And we can turn it up, if we need to but, when the build went in, in 2014, my understanding, supplemented by the interrogatory response that is in our compendium, is that Union reallocated these percentages throughout the IRM period to reflect the allocation of capacity of the newly enhanced system.  Would you agree with that?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Sorry, Mr. Quinn, I am just trying to recall if it was related to the base or only the project.  And I would have to take that away.  I can't off the top of my head remember if it was.  It might have just been a shift of the capacity related to the project.  I can't recall.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And I respect that and I may ask for an undertaking for you to do that.  But I thought it might be helpful, and it is later on in my compendium, I believe, that there is an interrogatory response that actually provides that information. I am sorry, it may not -- okay, I am going to -- okay.  Here we are, here.  On page 7 of our compendium -- sorry for the delay.  I knew I had put it in here.

This is the interrogatory response to Board Staff, with the first build, which was under the board docket EB-2014-0261.  And if this helps refresh your recollection, Ms. Mikhaila, I will offer it for the moment.  I had said we -- well, I want to give you a moment to look at it.  It was in our compendium.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.  I do think that reading this, I do think you are correct that ultimately, when the projects went into rates, it resulted in a shift of the project, as well as the base costs.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  And so, with that clarification, and I respect that; I am going to ask you for an undertaking here. So maybe if there is any further clarification, because 2014 is almost 10 years ago, and you can look at it more carefully, what I struggle with and I have spent too far too much time on was trying to look at how these, the surplus costs would be allocated in -- at the end of 2018, if Union had to rebase for 2019, how would the surplus costs be allocated?

And so you will see if we can return back to page 6 of my compendium we were just on previously, Ms. Monforton?  Just one page up, thank you.

This is what I was trying to work out, was the -- how each of these respective rate classes -- and you noticed I have added two additional rate classes, one being the EGD rate zone to separate it from ex-franchise, and PDO, which obviously is not a rate class per se, but it would get an allocation of costs.

What I would like you to undertake is, and I am going to be very specific about this, to initially look at the allocation that would have happened to a surplus of 210 TJs based upon the formulaic mechanisms that Union at the time had put in place to recognize builds being added to base rates through the capital pass-through.

So I am asking specifically what costs would have been allocated for the capacity of 210 TJs to each of the respective five categories that I have under the EGI capacity?  Is that something I can ask you to undertake to do?

MR. STEVENS:  It is David Stevens speaking:  I guess the first question, Ms. Mikhaila, is whether that is something that can be done?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I think in order to do that we could recreate the allocator that was used in 2013, using the demands of the winter 2018/2019.  And as I am understanding it, Mr. Quinn, you do not want that. You do not want the 114 allocated in that way.  You want the 210?

MR. QUINN:  That is correct.  That is what I want.  If Enbridge would like to do a second, staying at 114, that would be acceptable also, so the Board has that information on the record.  That may be point of argument later on.  I respect that.  So, once you have the allocator, done it is just math between the 210 and 114.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  We can do that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. STEVENS:  And, again, just for clarification, is it something -- I'm just looking at this and, of course, up until 2019, there was no differentiation between ex-franchise and EGD zone.  Is that something that can be broken down as of 2019.

MS. MIKHAILA:  I do believe we'll have that information.

MR. QUINN:  Well, and I am going to come back to this after the break, but I just thought I would help Mr. Stevens with his concerns.  I thought that that might come up because that is where I ended up.  So, if you would scroll down, please, to page -- I'm not sure of the original reference -- but page 13 of our compendium.  In the merger proceeding, this was a respect to VECC 22.  And what I did is I put the attachment below, but I edited the attachment because it had storage and other things.  These were the transport contracts that were in place for Enbridge Gas Distribution.

Actually, if you could scroll down to page 15, please, Ms. Monforton.  And did we lose the highlighting again?  No, we have the highlighting.  This is helpful.

I know you have your own records Ms. Mikhaila, and I'm not suggesting you work from this because, if we scroll just to the top right-hand corner of that page 15, what we is March 2018.  So these were the contracts that were in place as of March 2018.  We are looking for the contracts that were in place as of January 1, 2019, but I couldn't find that.  And I couldn't find that -- in all of the records that I have kept over the years, I didn't look at an index of customers exactly for that date and so I don't have any record of it.

So, as a heads up, Mr. Hagerman, I am going to be asking about that later on but, I think, Mr. Stevens, this should give you some comfort that what was allocated to the Enbridge rate zone should be a summation of these contracts I have highlighted.  But I am trusting that Ms. Mikhaila will have better records.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  That sounds like I've learned from both you and Ms. Mikhaila that this can be done.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking will be J7.6.
UNDERTAKING J7.6:  TO CONFIRM ,IF THE BOARD HAD REBASED UNION'S COSTS AT THE END OF 2018, THE SURPLUS CAPACITY COSTS OF 210 TJS BE ALLOCATED IN THE FIVE CATEGORIES OF EX-FRANCHISE, UNION SOUTH, UNION NORTH, ENBRIDGE RATE ZONE, AND THE PDO.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Quinn or Ms. Mikhaila, could you provide a short summary of what the undertaking is.

MR. QUINN:  What I am asking Ms. Mikhaila to do is, in respect of the -- if the Board had rebased Union's costs at the end of 2018, how much would a surplus capacity -- sorry, how would the surplus capacity costs of 210 TJs be allocated in the five categories of ex-franchise, Union South, Union North, Enbridge rate zone, and the PDO.

Sorry, Ms. Mikhaila.  I was looking at you.  Are you comfortable with that definition?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, I am, thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Somewhat unintentionally, I have arrived at a good break point, Commissioner Moran.  Would this be an appropriate time to take our afternoon break or would you like me to continue?

MR. MORAN:  No, that's fine.  Let's take 15-minute break and we'll be back at 3:00.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 2:43 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:03 p.m.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Mondrow, I promised the Panel would get back to you.  We considered your request.  Now, in looking at Wednesday, which is currently planned as a virtual day, two-thirds of day is going to be virtual, anyway, so the Panel's feeling is that the balance of convenience is to continue the rest of the day as a virtual day, as well.  I appreciate the offer to have your witness her in personal and that, but I think we will stick with the virtual day for Wednesday.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you for considering the request, Sir.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Quinn, a couple of questions before you continue:  Do you have a time estimate for the remainder of your cross?  I understand that you have a bit of an arrangement with Energy Probe's time here, as well?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you.  I am approximately halfway through.  It depends on the answers that I get.  So that would be about 45 minutes from when I initiated, after Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Just to assist the Panel in positioning your approach here, where do you see this evidence taking us and what will you be asking us to do on the basis of this issue?

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Sir.  I haven't compiled my thoughts, but in hopefully a concise way, the surplus was something we had called "double recovery", and we weren't successful in getting our argument across, but the previous panel had said they asked the new company, Amalco, to account for this.  As I read their evidence and asked questions of them, it appeared to me that I was not clearly understanding their position, but, ultimately, I believe that, if there had been rebasing, there would have been an opportunity for those costs to be, in my view, absorbed appropriately such that costs would match rates in a more clean way.  Especially given the fact that ratepayers were in this agreement and had crystallized some revenue in the previous IRM term for the benefit of the shareholder, getting that corrected at the outset of the deferred rebasing period I thought would be appropriate in the public interest.

MR. MORAN:  Now that we are at the other end of the deferred rebasing period, where does that take us?

MR. QUINN:  That would look like the relief that we would be seeking, is an appropriate recovery of the costs associated with those, that surplus that had been paid in the previous rebasing -- sorry, IRM period after deferred rebasing there.

Depending on the accounting that Ms. Mikhaila is able to do for us, there is an adjustment that could be paid back to all parties, reflecting the continued over-recovery opportunity that the utility has now had, over the next 5 years, that the Board didn't approve and nor did ratepayers sign up to because the PDO agreement was not extended.  And I can't speak for other parties.  I can only speak for FRPO.  But, based on understanding what had happened and what was done, I would not have -- if we had been asked the question, can we extend the PDO agreement, FRPO would have not -- my recommendation to my client would have been that we should not enfold that agreement because it wasn't balanced.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  I don't know if you can answer this question, but do you have a ball-park estimate of what kind of dollars we are talking about here?

MR. QUINN:  My ability to do it is not -- their cost-allocation principles are something I can't get behind because -- I respect Ms. Mikhaila knows this better than I do, but my estimate was $6.554 million per year over the 5 years.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  That is helpful.  All right.  Let's carry on.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you, Sir.  I will be changing gears to talk about Dawn-to-Parkway risk in the second half of what I have to speak about, but in trying to come up with a better number than the 6.5 that I was able to generate with admittedly some simplifying assumptions, I struggled to get to what capacity was in place January 1, 2019.  And so, Mr. Hagerman, I had asked -- I suggested to you before the break that I was giving you a heads-up.  Enbridge doesn't archive its index of customers.  Correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  I was prepared for this question, Mr. Quinn.  Sorry, Max Hagerman.  We did file a 2019 index of customers.  It may have been difficult for you to see.  I think it was Exhibit I.I.11.FRPO-13, where you had asked for the storage and transportation index of customers for 2014, 2019, and 2023.  We did respond to that, but we responded to it in bulk, I guess, if you will.  But there are all four years shown in that record, and the results for 2019 do show -- I think it starts on page 7 or 8 of that listing, is the 2019 index of customers, so it is there.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, first off, my 35-plus years in the gas industry has allowed me to make an excuse for my memory that I didn't remember that that was in there, so thank you for pointing that out.  But, more importantly, my question was:  Enbridge doesn't provide an archived index of customers that one could draw on -- anybody in the public could go onto your website and get your index of customers today, but you do not archive those so we can go back last month, last year, or in this case 5 year ago.  Correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  I am not certain of that.  I know that we provide this index of customers, but I am not sure how far back we would archive that.

MR. QUINN:  Is there anyone else on this panel who can answer that question?

MR. STEVENS:  It is David Stevens speaking, Mr. Quinn.  To be clear, when you say "archive", are you speaking about public records?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Are you asking:  Does Enbridge maintain a publicly available record, an online record, of customers going back X years?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  I just wonder whether the phrase "archive" is maybe confusing.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. HAGERMAN:  I actually don't know what we keep from an archival standpoint and for previous customers.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Do you know if TransCanada archives its contract-demand energy reports so that you can go back to any respective month over years and years to know what contracts they had in place with customers?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Max Hagerman.  I am not aware of how TransCanada maintains those contract records, no.

MR. STEVENS:  Again, sorry to interrupt, Mr. Quinn.  I think we are still having a difference of hearing what you are asking about.  If I understand right, you are asking about how each of Enbridge Gas and TransCanada maintains public records, online records, of customers, not how they keep their own records but what Enbridge is doing in terms of the records that you or I could find online tomorrow morning and what TransCanada is doing in terms of what one can find online tomorrow morning.  So I think that is the question, Mr. Hagerman, rather than what is happening behind the scenes.

MR. QUINN:  That is correct.

MR. HAGERMAN:  Okay.  I would say, then, then whatever -- I believe that the index of customers that we have previously published, if it is online, it is available.  But I am not aware of anything other than that, other than the public record that we have here.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I won't use the word "archive."  Do you think it would be helpful to the market and to the Board to be able to go back over the years and look at a point in history to understand the contracting of the utility, in this case the Dawn-Parkway system?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Would it be -- Max Hagerman.  It might potentially be beneficial to look backwards at what may or may not have been contracted on the Dawn-Parkway system, but I am not certain that it is.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  You are not certain, Sir.  Would you agree with me that some market participants may find it valuable to understand the evolution of the contracting on a specific pipeline for the purposes of measuring their own risk in entering into a contract that may have a term associated with it that history would inform?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Max Hagerman.  I would agree that some market participants might find that beneficial, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  I guess you can speak for the Board, but, in this case, I was trying to inform the Board and I couldn't get there, notwithstanding the fact that, in the 25,000 pages of evidence, what I was looking for was in the evidence, not online.  But if the Board -- sorry, I will say it this way:  If requested, does Enbridge see it as a significant cost to provide links that would emulate TransCanada's approach to providing public access to its history of contracting?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Are you asking -- sorry, Max Hagerman:  I am not sure of your question, Mr. Quinn.  Are you asking if we have it available, or if we would agree to make it available pending what the cost might be to provide it?

MR. QUINN:  Let's parse out them, just the way you said it.  Would you have it?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Max Hagerman:  Again, I am not positive if we have archived information.  We would have to determine that.  I don't know what we keep from previous years.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I respect, sir, that I am asking questions that are outside of your realm of knowledge.  I will ask the witness panel, and Mr. Stevens can enter in:  Would Enbridge undertake to, one, answer the question, do they have it available?  And two, would they be willing to do it, subject to the cost of providing that information?

MR. STEVENS:  Again, I will say, Mr. Quinn, that I am struggling around the relevance here.  I mean, what we have up in front of us are things that happened 10 years ago.  I assume that the contract at the bottom, which has an end date that is still to come, would be something that would be publicly available, now.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  But certainly for the purposes of this proceeding, I am struggling to understand the relevance in terms of phase 1, about why we would be talking about effectively changing the STAR requirements for what is publicly posted and what is publicly available.

MR. QUINN:  Well, you would agree with me that the STAR issue is an issue in this proceeding?

MR. STEVENS:  I wouldn't, actually.  I am sorry.  I would agree with you the Dawn-Parkway turnback is an issue in this proceeding.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  But we also had some deferred items into phase 2, which I believe included STAR.

MR. STEVENS:  That may be, but that is not part of what we are here for today.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, then, I will defer my request at this time.  But this is where the rubber hit the road, and their limitation of the data was challenging, but we can overcome it, maybe in phase 2.  I will move on.

What I did say that I wanted to come back to, though, was this issue of risk on the Dawn-Parkway system and, in fact, risk to ratepayers specifically.  And if we could go back to -- I think the best place to start is page 4 of our compendium.  Thank you.

I am going to focus on 2015, Ms. Monforton, so if you could keep the left side where we could see the line descriptions, but we only need to look at 2015 and 2016.  So if we could just expand, because I know I am having trouble seeing it, and I am concerned others may be, also.  Okay, that is helpful.  Thank you.

And so at 2015/2016, I didn't want to pause the discussions with Ms. Mikhaila, but something that has escaped our understanding and it is reflected in this report for each year starting in 2015, is a significant amount in the line 4 called, "Other Dawn-Parkway system capacity changes."

And in respect of 2015, line 2 says that Enbridge -- sorry, Union at the time -- added 433 TJs of capacity in 2015, and then netted out other Dawn-Parkway capacity changes to arrive at the amount of capacity that was forecasted.

So I am not sure if this is you, Mr. Dillon, or somebody else, but can you describe for me what is included in the other Dawn-Parkway system capacity changes?

MR. DILLON:  Can we confer for one moment?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Mr. Quinn, I have a base understanding of this, and I can answer your question based on my knowledge.  Line 5, the total forecasted Dawn-Parkway system capacity, is the sum of all the demands on the system, including the ex-franchise demands.  And what I mean by that is to the extent there are demands that are something shorter than the Dawn-Parkway total path, for example, Dawn-Kirkwall or Kirkwall-Parkway, then those -- a Dawn-Parkway, one TJ of Dawn-Parkway is equal to one TJ of system capacity, as is one TJ of Dawn-Kirkwall or Kirkwall-Parkway.

So as far as the capacity goes, my understanding is it is the sum of the demands.  So when, for example, 200 Dawn-Kirkwall TJ is replaced with 150 Dawn-Parkway -- 150 TJs of Dawn-Parkway, then there would be a system change of 50, even though there is no real equivalent changes on the Dawn-Parkway system.  It is just the way the Dawn-Parkway system capacity is calculated.

MR. QUINN:  With all due respect, Ms. Mikhaila, I am concerned that that is not accurate.  Mr. Dillon, do you agree with what Ms. Mikhaila stated there?  Because I want to be fair, Ms. Mikhaila, I respect your knowledge and you have been helpful in the past to us and the Board.

The concept of Dawn-Kirkwall is important as you said, in the latter part of what you stated.  But when we read at 68, starting at "The cost of service", 6,803, that is for Dawn-Parkway capacity.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Again my understanding, which I believe is correct, is that the capacity is calculated as the demand plus or minus the excess in shortfall.  So capacity itself is not something that is necessarily calculated in and of itself.  It is a formula based on the demands and the excess shortfall through the modelling.

MR. QUINN:  Sorry, but I can't draw on it right now, but you have produced schematics of your Dawn-Parkway system which don't concur with your answer.  I am going to try this a different way and potentially, if that is an undertaking or potentially it is a subsequent panel:  Starting in 2015, you will have capacity of the Dawn-Parkway system, not the demands on the system.  The demands on the system are in line 6.  The capacity that is represented in the 6,803, in base rates, is Dawn-Parkway capacity.  Can anybody on the panel confirm that?

MR. DILLON:  Confirmed.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Okay.  And so when you do a build, in this case here, your first build was 433 TJs, that represents the amount of capacity, Dawn-Parkway capacity that would be created as a result of the build is 433 TJs of capacity, Dawn-Parkway.  Correct?

MR. DILLON:  Gord Dillon:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  So Ms. Mikhaila, I know you took us to the idea of adding up demands, and that demands for Dawn-Kirkwall are different from Dawn-Parkway.  I understand that.  And the capacity that you need to serve those demands from Dawn-Kirkwall is different than from Dawn-Parkway.  But in my understanding, that isn't the nature of the 222.

So if there is nobody on this panel who can answer the question, I would like that Enbridge would undertake to answer the question prior in this case, to panel -- I am concerned, Mr. Stevens, that possibly some of the other -- Mr. Clark and Ms. Debevc, who are on future panels, they may be able to help us with that.  And I don't want to take up the Board's time, so if you could take it by undertaking and prior the answer prior to their appearance,  I won't take much of the capital panel time, but they can help and confirm any clarity that I might need.

MR. STEVENS:  To be clear, Mr. Quinn, you are asking us to confirm what is represented by the numbers on line 4 of this table.

MR. QUINN:  Correct, in sufficient detail to help us understand how does that occur, in a way that 7,236 becomes 7,014.  I will stop there.

MR. STEVENS:  Well, without making any comment as to whether there is anything we can add to what Ms. Mikhaila said, we can certainly take this away and provide an answer in writing.  We will do our best to get it in before next Monday, which is when I believe that the capital panel is starting.  I can't promise the timing on that, Mr. Quinn.  I can tell you that the capital panel is going to be up for a while, so perhaps, if we don't get it by Monday, we can get it before they're finished.

MR. QUINN:  And I will work with other intervenors to move later in the queue so I can have a chance to review it, and just hopefully ask clarifying questions.  Would it be helpful, Mr. Stevens, if I sent you the interrogatory response that I am speaking to, where Enbridge has separated the Dawn-to-Parkway capacity from its demands in a way that would be helpful to trigger what I am talking about?

MR. STEVENS:  Certainly.  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Okay  I will do that offline, but I will file it.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  The undertaking is J7.7.
UNDERTAKING J7.7:  TO PROVIDE A FULL DESCRIPTION OF LINE 4, WHICH IS OTHER DAWN-TO-PARKWAY SYSTEM CAPACITY CHANGES, WHICH RESULTS IN THE TOTAL IN LINE 3 BEING REDUCED BY THAT AMOUNT FOR THE TOTAL FORECASTED DAWN-TO-PARKWAY SYSTEM CAPACITY IN LINE 5.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Quinn, could you quickly summarize the undertaking.

MR. QUINN:  To provide a full description of line 4, which is other Dawn-to-Parkway system capacity changes, which results in the total in line 3 being reduced by that amount for the total forecasted Dawn-to-Parkway system capacity in line 5.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Are you comfortable with that, Mr. Stevens?

MR. STEVENS:  I am, thank you.  We will do our best to answer it.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Ms. Monforton, if we could move to later in our compendium, to page 19, please.  Actually, I probably should start with the previous page, page 18.  It's just the cover page, but this is the assessment of future utilization of the Enbridge Gas Dawn-to-Parkway system, authored by CF for you, Mr. Hagerman.  That's correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Max Hagerman.  Yes, that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So, first, can you tell me why you limited the horizon of this study to five years ending in 2028?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Max Hagerman.  We limited the study, as we felt that the horizon of this rebasing term was what we were particularly focused on from the 2024 to 2028 time frame.

MR. QUINN:  And you explored some of this with Mr. Rubenstein, so I won't go back through that, but I think he identified for you that the risks may be visited on the system and, in essence, ratepayers after 2028.  Would you agree with that?

MR. HAGERMAN:  I would agree that there could be further analysis required at a later date to determine just what the capacity requirements are for our ex-franchise customers post-2028, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So I note that ICF did not produce any recommendations on ratepayer protections if they were wrong.  Is that correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Pardon?  I'm sorry, could you rephrase that for me.

MR. QUINN:  I just said I noted, in going through the report, that ICF did not produce any recommendations on ratepayer protections if they were wrong in their statement that the Dawn-to-Parkway system should be okay.

MR. HAGERMAN:  Max Hagerman.  I believe that they didn't produce any recommendations because they were firmly of the belief that the 2024-to-2018 period had an extremely low risk for turnback.  And, again, that's where they focused their efforts to.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  But we did talk about -- and, again, Mr. Rubenstein covered off with you, and tell me if I'm wrong in saying it this way -- but Enbridge believes a ratepayer protection could be terming-up of contracts, but it is not what you are proposing at this time.

MR. HAGERMAN:  We aren't particularly proposing a term-up right now, but, as part of facilities build or an IRPA process, we would propose a term-up for ratepayer protection as part of a proceeding, yes.  But we're not proposing it here, that is true.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So would you agree with me that some companies have a portfolio of Dawn-to-Parkway contracts?  In other words, they don't have all of their demands in one contract.  It is sometimes separated in multiple contracts.

MR. HAGERMAN:  Max Hagerman.  Yes, I would agree with that.

MR. QUINN:  And so those contracts often have different expiry dates?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Agreed.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So if you were to go with a term-up provision, say five years -- I think five years is what you might have said to Mr. Rubenstein.  Was five years what you said to Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Five years is what I said, yes.

MR. QUINN:  So all of the contracts would be extended to a minimum of five years from the date on which they said no to the reverse open season.  Is that the way you --


MR. HAGERMAN:  That is accurate, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So notwithstanding -- and, again, you have said that you think you're okay until 2028; risk might be beyond that.  If you did a build -- well, let's say it this way.  If you haven't done build, and you haven't done one for five years now, companies could bid into a new capacity open season, term-up their existing contracts, but adding a new contract to their portfolio, but then, in five years, they would have the ability to turn back one of their vintage contracts and keep their commitment for the 15 years with their new contract.  Correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  So while the risk is very low, even with term-up provisions, there is a risk within this next decade.  Would you agree with that?

MR. HAGERMAN:  I would agree with that.  There is a risk.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  He also touched on open season, and I had some more questions, but he more than adequately covered a number of them.  But he was asking about the results of your open season.  And I am comforted to hear that there is not a build that is necessarily going to be generated from that, but he was asking for the results, which I don't have the specific date that he provided.  You are going to provide the result on the undertaking after the date.

But my question for you is that it sounds like the company bid into the open season on the basis of the needs for in-franchise customers.  Can you tell us the amount that the company bid in for?  Because that is part of what I would understand the company would be preparing for as part of its forecast.

MR. HAGERMAN:  I have agreed to provide that.  Once we have finalized all of the contractual agreements, we will provide that detail and we will provide what the company has bid for in the open season.

MR. QUINN:  But you don't have to contract with yourself.  Correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  We don't contract with ourselves, but we engage in an open season with ourselves to keep things clean.  And we do sign what we call "term sheets" internally to allocate the capacity to ourselves, if you will.

MR. QUINN:  And so what is the company's forecast that would have necessitated bidding into that open season and what is the amount?  Can you not tell us that?

MR. HAGERMAN:  I cannot tell you that today.  We will follow up with that as part of the undertaking that we provided with Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. QUINN:  Now, I see Mr. Stevens's camera on, but I am just trying to separate your bid from other's bids.  I respect that publicly, and confidentially, you don't want that on the record until later on for other companies, because you still have a process of diligence to go through their prudential requirements to make sure everything stands up.

Mr. Dillon, I'm sorry, but I see you motioning.  Do you have that number, Mr. Dillon?

MR. STEVENS:  With respect, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Mr. Rubenstein shared the open season document.  It indicated that the results become public, I believe, tomorrow.  They are not yet public.

Mr. Hagerman, I think, has helpfully provided high-level information so that we don't get off on the wrong foot, thinking that the open season will support a build.  But the details of what is going to be awarded following the open season are to be communicated after this panel is up.  We promised that we will provide those details, and badgering the witnesses to provide that now I think is unfair.  So I respectfully decline to provide this information at this moment, as you are demanding.

MR. QUINN:  I would have with withdrawn it, Mr. Stevens.  I am sorry you heard it as badgering.  I was just trying to understand and separate confidential with other companies versus what is in front of the Board right now, and that is the forecasts of the company that feeds into its capital plan.  And so I withdraw the question.

I didn't, honestly, as I was altering my cross-examination to reflect what Mr. Rubenstein had asked, I didn't realize the date was maybe tomorrow.  My apologies to the Panel if it appeared I was badgering, but I am trying to get understanding in terms of moving forward.  So I thanks for that clarification, Mr. Stevens, and I will move on.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Quinn, just before you continue, I just wonder, just for information purposes, about the process, the bidding process.  Enbridge obviously needs some capacity for itself.  Is it competing, or is it just saying to itself, "I need this much", and whoever else is bidding in is competing for the rest?  Just help us understand your process, please.

MR. HAGERMAN:  Max Hagerman.  Enbridge would compete in the process.  We accept bids from third parties, from downstream shippers, and ourselves.  So let's say, an example, we had only so much capacity available and it was 100,000 and we had bids for greater than 100,000.  We would prorate that amount that we allocated, and that proration amount would also apply to the Enbridge capacity.  So it is not a -- we don't just give Enbridge what they need, ourselves what they need or what we need; we allocate that on the same basis as we would as if it was a third-party shipper.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Thanks.  That is helpful.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Commissioner Moran.  Just to extend that question, would it be 15-year forecast that the company would put into its internal bid for that capacity?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Max Hagerman.  I am not sure what the term is that the company put in.  I would have to double check that.

MR. QUINN:  But, to be able to be evaluated comparatively with other arm's-length companies, would you not have to be establishing a similar commitment?

MR. HAGERMAN:  They could put in a term, but they could also put in a different term, a longer term, as well.

MR. QUINN:  But your company, Enbridge, to -- if other parties are not able to bid a 10-year contract, the minimum is 15, would Enbridge not be putting in a 15-year forecast to compare apples to apples at the time where, as you say, there may need to be a prorating of contracts?

MR. HAGERMAN:  I am actually not sure what Enbridge has included in the term of their contract, but, again, we can provide that information tomorrow, when we highlight the contracts and the bids.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  If you could provide that as part of that same undertaking, then I would be happy to move on.  Are you comfortable with that, Mr. Stevens?

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.  Just to make sure that we are on the same page, what are you suggesting would be added to the undertaking?

MR. QUINN:  That Enbridge clarifies, if it submitted a 15-year bid to allow an appropriate comparison of contracts for potentially the possibility that there might be some prorating at the end of the contracting process.

MR. STEVENS:  Understood.  We will provide information as to the length of the contract that Enbridge Gas gas supply -- or let's call it bid into the process, bid into the open season.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Ms. Monforton, if you could just scroll down to the next page, I believe again, if the highlighting came through -- there we are.  So, at the end -- and this is what caused the concern I should have addressed earlier, but the very last line says:

"Even though the current contracted capacity decreases significantly between now and 2024, ICF expects most of the customers will recontract the capacity as they have done in the past."

So, upon reviewing this evidence, FRPO requested that Mr. John Rosenkranz prepare a study for his perspective on the risk to the Dawn-Parkway system.  I trust that this panel is familiar with his evidence and recommendations?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Yes, we are.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, so that is what I would like to move to.  If we scroll down, Ms. Monforton, so this is just the cover page, but following the cover page I have excerpted the findings and recommendations.  And so I would like to walk through with the panel, to get Enbridge's thoughts on the recommendations.

Initially Mr. Rosenkranz has advanced the idea of guardrails to the proposed cost allocation methodology.  And, specifically, if we can just scroll down further, under table 7, the one paragraph I think encapsulates -- yes, thank you --
"To reduce the risk of undue cost shifting, Enbridge should put limits on the ex-franchise demands that will be used to allocate Dawn-Parkway system costs at the next rebasing, based upon -- base -- sorry, base the requirements forecasts that Enbridge uses to obtain Board approval for a Dawn-Parkway expansion.  The objective would be to allocate Dawn-Parkway costs based upon the demands for which the transportation facilities were constructed, not just the actual demands in effect at the time of rebasing."


  If I may ask:  Can Enbridge provide their views on that recommendation?

MR. STEVENS:  With respect, Mr. Quinn, I believe this is an issue probably for phase 3, where we will be talking about cost allocation.  I suppose it could be part of phase 2 in terms of gas supply issues, but I think it is properly part of phase 3.  It is certainly not something that is necessary or part of what is being determined in phase 1, to my understanding.

MR. QUINN:  I accept that it may fall into either of those two latter phases, Mr. Stevens.  Mr. Rosenkranz is going to appear tomorrow, and I thought that it would be helpful and fair to hear the company's thoughts and any concerns that they may have with such a recommendation.  That is why I asked the question.

MR. STEVENS:  With respect, Mr. Quinn, I will say you and I had this conversation offline --


MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  -- and I signalled that my understanding was that this recommendation was for phase 3 and that I wouldn't be asking questions about it in this phase, and you confirmed that that was a correct understanding.  On that basis, we are not trying to suggest that Mr. Rosenkranz can't attend and be part of a subsequent part of this proceeding, but, in our view, the item that is in front of us on the screen right now is not within scope for phase 1, so I don't think it is a proper question or let's say a necessary question to this panel at this time.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I accept that, Mr. Stevens.  I know we -- I confirm we did have the exchange.  I thought that this was an appropriate way of introducing the subject and the Board Panel's understanding for the purposes of this discussion on Dawn-Parkway risk.  But I will leave it at that, and I will move on to the second recommendation, which would be -- I think you've covered this to some degree with Mr. Rubenstein, so -- if we could scroll down just a little further?  Yes.  Thank you, Ms. Monforton.  Move to the next page.

The second was the "to allow buyout payments in the reverse open season."  If I understood your concerns, Mr. Hagerman, you had expressed that parties who may have been willing to have given up their capacity, if they thought there was payment coming, they would hold onto it for the benefit of the future payment.  Did I understand your response correctly?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Max Hagerman.  Yes, that is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So, if the company -- and I want to project this as a potential way of overcoming that.  If the company were to allow multiple bids for the return of the capacity such that, if a party had, just hypothetically, 100 TJs of capacity, they could bid back in increments of 10 at an ever-increasing price, that would potentially be under the cost of the new facilities.  But if a tiered bidding approach was allowed, would the company not be able to take the best value that they got from all of the bids and have capacity be returned to them at lower than the cost of new facilities?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Max Hagerman:  I would agree that that might be a potential, but it still doesn't eliminate the fact that the free, if you will, reverse open season return of capacity would essentially be the off the table.  You might limit the payment in your tiered methodology, but I don't think you are going to eliminate it in any way.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. HAGERMAN:  I would also --


MR. QUINN:  Yes, please.

MR. HAGERMAN:  Like to speak a little bit to something further around customers who may turn back capacity, even though they need the capacity.  So if I am a third-party shipper and I turn back a certain amount so that I can achieve the payment even though I need capacity then I, as that third-party shipper, might go engage a marketer, another third-party participant to obtain that capacity.  And theoretically, they could obtain it from anywhere.  But they could also obtain it from marketers who are utilizing the Dawn-Parkway system.

So we have paid for a customer to turn back capacity, and I have no way or we have no way to regulate or manage where they get that capacity from.  And it could in fact be, again, on the Dawn-Parkway system.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  There was one more recommendation, but it wasn't included in the evidence.  And I realize upon consideration that it was in Mr. Rosenkranz's responses to IRs.  So I had forwarded to Ms. Monforton the IR responses from Mr. Rosenkranz to the parties that asked.  Thank you.

If we could go to the -- it is PDF page 9, Ms. Monforton.  I think we are going to end up with Energy Probe 3.  Sorry, if you could just turn up maybe Energy Probe 3?  I apologize to the panel.  It is page 9 of 15 on the PDF.  I have 15 pages in --

I am sorry, I just looked, Ms. Monforton, you have his evidence.  I wasn't specific in my wording.  These are the IR responses.  And it was the response that Mr. Rosenkranz provided to Energy Probe.  The exhibit is N.M4.Energy Probe-3.  Thank you.  Sorry for the miscommunication.

If we could scroll down to the second paragraph, Energy Probe was asking Mr. Rosenkranz about his thoughts on PDO and PDCI.  And reading in his response, he says:
"Because the PDO is an alternative to constructing Dawn-Parkway system facilities, it could be beneficial for EGI to solicit offers from customers who would be willing to opt in to a PDO in exchange for a payment that may be different than from the PDCI."

Do you see that there, on the second paragraph?

MR. HAGERMAN:  We do.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Can I ask for the panel's thoughts on the opportunity of that to be an IRP-type of initiative to avoid a Dawn-Parkway build?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Can we confer for second, please?

MR. QUINN:  Absolutely.  Thank you.

MR. HAGERMAN:  Max Hagerman:  Mr. Quinn, I think we would agree to evaluate incremental PDCI.  But one of the things that we would have caution around is the amount of capacity available for customers to be delivered to Parkway not using the Dawn-Parkway system.  So just, yes, we would evaluate that, we would consider that -- but just a caution around what capacity might be available at Parkway.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Fair enough.  Thank you for your answer.  I am just about wrapping up, Commissioner Moran.  I just want to ask a couple more questions on this risk idea.

The Dawn-Parkway capacity that is allocated for the purposes of PDO shift, it is on the basis of what is needed at Parkway on a design day?  Is that correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Sorry, you are asking about the allocation of the costs?  Or the amount of capacity at Parkway?

MR. QUINN:  The amount of capacity.

MS. MIKHAILA:  In the modelling, and maybe Mr. Dillon can add to this, but that gas is assumed to arrive at Parkway in the modelling on the design day.  And if it doesn't arrive at Parkway, you would need an equivalent amount of Dawn-Parkway capacity to meet the demands.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I was asking, is it needed on a design day.  That is what I am hearing, is correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  But that means that capacity isn't utilized to move gas to Parkway every day.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So given a warm forecast and no design day in sight, it may be in November.  Does Enbridge have the opportunity to sell that capacity to parties that would want to move gas through the Dawn-Parkway system?  I mean, short term, under like a C1-type arrangement for one week of capacity.  Thanks, Mr. Hagerman.

MR. HAGERMAN:  Max Hagerman:  The opportunity might be there.  But, as you said, it is on a warm day in November and typically counterparties aren't looking for capacity on a warm day in November.  So it would certainly be market dependent.

MR. QUINN:  Maybe this is a question for you or Mr. Dillon:  How many days has the Dawn-Parkway system reached peak Dawn-Parkway capacity requirements in the last five years.

MR. DILLON:  Just give me one moment, please.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Whether it be better taken as an undertaking, I am respecting that others are falling behind me, so I would be happy to take that as an undertaking.

MR. DILLON:  I could take that, subject to check and get back with an answer.  I know we filed that in some of the IRs we responded to.  I just can't put my finger on it, right at this moment.

MR. QUINN:  If you could put the reference into an undertaking response, I would be appreciative.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be undertaking J7.8.

UNDERTAKING J7.8:  ENBRIDGE TO CONFIRM HOW MANY DAYS HAS THE DAWN-PARKWAY SYSTEM REACHED PEAK DAWN-PARKWAY CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS IN THE LAST FIVE YEARS.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  The last question I have then, Mr. Dillon, in that regard:  Isn't it true that because TCPL has deliveries that are providing its Dawn LTFP service through TransCanada's mainline system back to Parkway, to Dawn, that Enbridge has the opportunity to sell additional capacity almost every day of the winter?

MR. DILLON:  We are not counting on them, on design day.

MR. QUINN:  Not on the design day, Sir.  I am saying it is not a design day.  It is a cold winter day, but it is not a design day.  You are scheduling people; I didn't include this in my compendium because I thought we would get into too much detail.  But just as a simple principle, you are receiving gas from Trans Canada Pipelines throughout the winter that is moving backwards from the Trans Canada system to Parkway, that is nominated back to Parkway.  Correct?

MR. DILLON:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  And that supply of gas at Parkway reduces the need to ship gas from Dawn through to Parkway.  Correct?

MR. DILLON:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And so by way of undertaking could you tell us the amount of available capacity on the Dawn-Parkway system -- I am not going to go back 5 years -- just in this last winter, what amount of capacity was surplus to the Dawn-Parkway design day needs?

MR. DILLON:  Just one moment, please.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Commissioner Moran, that is my last question.  I appreciate Energy Probe's assistance and my opportunity to ask some of these questions on behalf of all ratepayers, and I will be closing after this one.

MR. STEVENS:  If you could, please repeat the question.  You won't believe me, Mr. Quinn, but I am trying not be too objectionist.

MR. QUINN:  No.

MR. STEVENS:  I am trying to understand how all this fits together, and it sounds like this may be a whole lot of work, and so I would like to understand the question again and then perhaps how it fits into Dawn-Parkway turnback risk.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  We have established that there is some risk the company bears, some risks the ratepayers bear.  In this case, it is an opportunity because the capacity that is otherwise in place to meet a design day condition isn't used each and every day, in fact, from what has happened, the dynamics in the North American market over the last, since 2017, in our view is not needed any day.  Union/Enbridge because it's under, I think still is, under Union on the system, has a daily operating report which establishes how much available capacity is there any day of the winter.  I could pull it out.  That part, I could actually pull out and try to put on the record, but I thought the company would be better to provide its own evidence, and that way, if there are any caveats around it that you want to place on the record, that is sufficient.  That is your alternative.  That is your option.  But I wanted to help the Board understand that capacity is one thing; utilization of that capacity is clearly another throughout the entire winter.

MR. STEVENS:  It may well be that that is relevant in some context.  I am still struggling, though, to understand how opportunities to optimize available capacity is relevant to this question that is on the issues list, of Dawn-Parkway turnback risk.

MR. QUINN:  It also speaks to the PDO and the costs paid, including the cost of compressor fuel.

MR. STEVENS:  But there is no issue, Mr. Quinn, about the PDO costs.  That has been resolved.  Pending approval of the settlement, that has been resolved.  I understand that these are interesting questions for you, but I don't understand how they fit into this case.

MR. QUINN:  Because, Mr. Stevens, there still is the issue of the 2019-to-2023 period for surplus capacity, and, assisted by Ms. Mikhaila when she does her numbers, we want to be able to argue for the appropriate recoveries.  It is not a lot of work.  If that was your original question, I think it would be helpful to have.

MR. STEVENS:  I mean I am in the Panel's hands, of course, but I haven't understood how it is particularly helpful information in the context of what is being determined in phase 1 in this proceeding.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Commissioner Moran, just to save the Panel time in respect of the extra time I have had today, I will withdraw the request.  To the extent that it is necessary or helpful, I will pull the information from the website and use it accordingly.  So thank you very much for the time today.  Thank you, witnesses, for your answers.  Those are our questions.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.  That brings us to OEB Staff.  Mr. Millar, do you have questions?

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Chair?

MR. MORAN:  Yes, Mr. Mondrow?

MR. MONDROW:  I apologize for interrupting, but I am in the order.  I do have questions.  I appreciate that Mr. Rubenstein explained that we coordinated.  I didn't actually give him all of my time, so I do have, I think, 10 minutes, give or take a minute or two, of a few questions for this panel.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  My apologies.  Please go ahead, Mr. Mondrow.

MR. MONDROW:  It is no problem.  I know that between all of the shifting around and deal-making, I am not even sure where we are at relative to estimates, so I certainly understand, Mr. Chair, that the Panel shouldn't be expected to, either.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:


Good afternoon.  This is Ian Mondrow, counsel for the Industrial Gas Users Association.  The acronym is IGUA.  Just couple of questions, please:  You talked at some length about -- and I think, Mr. Hagerman, this was you -- the process for Enbridge biding into its open season, and there is an undertaking to provide not only the results of the current open season for the Dawn-Parkway system but also your, that is the company's, bid.  Would you be willing to just add to that undertaking?  Could you file your document that you submitted into the process as part of that undertaking response?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Max Hagerman.  Yes, we could provide that.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  That would be great.  Thank you.  I think we can just use the same undertaking number, Mr. Millar, if that is okay.

MR. STEVENS:  If I may, Mr. Mondrow, I think for our record-keeping purposes, to make sure that we answer all the questions, it would be helpful to give this its own number.

MR. MILLAR:  Then, let's market that as J7.9.
UNDERTAKING J7.9:  ENBRIDGE TO FILE ITS BID DOCUMENT, AS DESCRIBED IN UNDERTAKING J7.8.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Ms. Mikhaila, I think this will probably be a discussion with you.  Mr. Rubenstein did a very good job, I thought, of outlining the PDO settlement framework.  I was, as you know, intimately involved in that, so I won't retread that ground.  Just to make sure it is complete, the PDO deliveries, the Parkway delivery obligation deliveries, effectively avoid new build on the Dawn-Parkway system.  Correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Amy Mikhaila.  You are correct.  In the absence of the PDO, there would need to be a Dawn-Parkway build in order to satisfy the demands.

MR. MONDROW:  Right, and so the deliveries obligated at Parkway -- and these are obligated by Enbridge, so customers deliver at Parkway because Enbridge tells them to.  Those deliveries benefit all customers by avoiding those capital costs?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And there are two reasons that customers might prefer to deliver at Dawn rather than Parkway.  You talked about one of those two reasons with Mr. Rubenstein, and that is to avoid the cost of bringing gas to Parkway rather than Dawn?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  The other reason, though, would be the liquidity and transactional flexibility that is offered at Dawn as compared to Parkway.  Correct?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Max Hagerman.  That is correct.  The number of counterparties at Dawn and the pipes that feed Dawn and the takeaway capacity compared to that at Parkway is greatly different, so many customers prefer to transact and buy their gas at Dawn.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Perfect.  Thank you.  Now, Ms. Mikhaila, you talked at some length with Mr. Rubenstein about the deal, and, as I understand your testimony from earlier today, the deal includes preserving through the IRM term in place at the time of the deal the opportunity for Enbridge, then Union and subsequently Enbridge Gas, to generate revenue twice from the excess Dawn-Parkway capacity, once in rates and the second time in the PDO cost-recovery which kind of replaced your opportunity to generate revenue from remarketing excess capacity.  Is that generally consistent with your testimony?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I wouldn't characterize it exactly that way.  Specifically, I would just clarify that the PDO costs in rates were a replacement of revenue that we lost from ex-franchise M12 that was built into the 13 forecast.

And then, in addition to that, there was 210 TJs of capacity from the 2013 cost of service that we did have the ability to sell, of which that revenue would accrue to the company, included in utility earnings, subject to earnings sharing.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, so, sorry, my characterization was overbroad.  It applies only to the 210 excess -- it is "TJs," right, 210 TJs of excess capacity?  But, in respect of those 210 TJs of excess capacity, my characterization, you would accept?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, and just to clarify, because it was a minute or two ago, the 210 TJs of excess capacity did provide the company the ability to earn revenue above costs on that amount, and that is, as I had stated earlier, an outcome of the 2013 decision.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes, understood.  Okay.  Thank you.  So, in this case, looking forward, it is phase 2.  But, in this case, looking forward from 2024 to 2028, is Enbridge's PDO proposal seeking to preserve in respect of excess Dawn-Parkway capacity that ability to recover the opportunity cost of not being able to remarket or optimize capacity being used to support the shift from Parkway to Dawn.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Amy Mikhaila:  The cost allocation is a matter of phase 3.  However, I can state that in 2024 forecast, the cost of the Dawn-Parkway system have been fully allocated using the demand of the 2024 demand forecast.

So what that means is that the enfranchised demands have increased as a result of the PDO shift because that -- their demands need to travel from Dawn up the Dawn-Parkway system.  So there has been a shift in the cost allocation for 2024.  And so I wouldn't say those costs are still -- they are in there, but I say they now just make up part of the 2024 forecast.

In addition, the excess capacity that we have in 2024, which is 89 TJ at the time of the derivation of the forecast we have proposed, and I believe it was subject to the settlement, a Dawn-Parkway surplus capacity where we would refund any revenue that we generate from that surplus capacity during the next IR term, and that is different than the framework we were under from the 2013 cost of service, where we did not have a mechanism that required us to refund revenue generated from the surplus.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So how would the situation in 2019, had you rebased, be different from the situation as it stands today and which underlines the proposal you just described?  Would there have been a different set of circumstances applicable in 2019?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I think it is difficult in 2019 to adjust one element of costs and --


MR. MONDROW:  Sorry.  I am sorry.  I should let you finish.  Go ahead.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Sorry, yes.  In 2019, we were going from one IR to another IR, both of which were price cap mechanisms.  And under the price cap Mechanism, the costs are decoupled from rates.  And it is difficult to adjust one element of cost allocation in a framework without a full cost allocation study.  And so essentially, if there was an adjustment to return an element of an amount we had built into rates to ratepayers beginning in 2019 then, as I mentioned before, the company would not have been kept whole relative to the PDO framework once it was set, in 2014.

And the MAADs decision, where it required us to track actual costs and the amount included in recovery for rates, specifically stated, and I will just quote this.  It is on page 11 of the SEC compendium.  The decision stated that:

"The OEB at the time of rebasing", which is where we find ourselves today, "will review the costs and amounts recovered through rates to ensure that ratepayers are not paying twice for their required capacity, and the legacy Union Gas is not enhancing earnings contrary to the intent of the PDO settlement agreement."

And I would state that if there was an adjustment to rates beginning in 2019, then that would be contrary to the intent of the PDO settlement agreement.  And so I argue that the MAADs decision recognized that that PDO settlement agreement would continue until the next rebasing in 2024.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Well, thanks for the argument, but what I actually asked you was had you rebased in 2019, what would have been different in respect of how to address this issue of surplus capacity being allocated to shifting deliveries from Parkway to Dawn in 2019, than today, in respect of your going-forward proposal.  And I think your answer was, well, since we weren't rebasing, it would have been pulling out one cost allocation thread, and that would be inappropriate.  Do I have that right?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I think that is fair.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  There were other base-rate adjustments made in 2019.  Did you have the same concerns about those other adjustments?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I can't recall the specifics, sorry, Mr. Mondrow.  But I do believe the base-rate adjustment that was proposed by Union -- or, sorry, Amalco, now Enbridge Gas, at the time was for an item that had a time frame associated with it.  And that time frame ended at the beginning of the new deferred rebasing period where, in this case, the PDO settlement agreement that capacity was still being used for the PDO shift and still not available and not otherwise wouldn't have been recovered, the cost of it wouldn't have been recovered from ratepayers.

I think what you are maybe asking is should the Board at 2019 have required an adjustment, so that we would no longer recover the -- or be able to earn revenue on the 210 TJ that we had in excess capacity at 2013, and that wasn't an element of the MAADs decision.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes, I appreciate that.  But to be clear, you earned revenue on that 210 TJs.  What we are talking about today is earning incremental revenue by remarketing that 210 TJs, in addition to the revenue you earned because it was in rates, already.  Right?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  That is the revenue-earning you are talking about, is earning revenue in addition to recovering the cost of that capacity that spare capacity in rates, excess capacity in rates, the PDO settlement preserved for you the opportunity to earn additional revenue from remarketing that excess capacity.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, and that was revenue that we used to manage cost pressures and everything like that, that come as part of a price cap index.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes, understood.  And you had a full discussion about that, so I won't belabour the point anymore.  Thank you, for your answers.

Two more questions, and I think Mr. Hagerman, I think you said something to Mr. Rubenstein that I just didn't quite understand.  You acknowledged in discussions with Mr. Rubenstein that there is a longer term risk to Dawn-Parkway underutilization, but not in your view significant over the 2024 to 2028 term.  And you talked about ICF's conclusion to the same effect.

And then you said, if my notes are correct, "We have a large customer allocation in this proceeding."  Mr. Rubenstein was asking you about proposals in this proceeding.  What do you mean, "We have a large customer allocation"?  I am not sure what that is.

MR. HAGERMAN:  Max Hagerman:  I maybe misspoke.  I believe what I was indicating was that we have -- and Mr. Dillon spoke to it, as well -- that we had a large customer that we had thought might bid in to this new capacity open season that we had previously held that they did not come forward.  So I am not a "large customer allocation" was a correct wording.

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Dillon, is that what you meant?

MR. DILLON:  Yes, that is what we meant.  We meant that we have one large customer in our forecast.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So you have a large customer in your Forecast; that customer didn't bid in to the open season that is closing tomorrow?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Max Hagerman:  The open season has already closed.  Our customer did not come forward.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So what does that have to do with mitigating long-term Dawn-Parkway underutilization risk?  I don't understand.

MR. HAGERMAN:  Mr. Mondrow, I am not sure; I didn't ask the question.  I was just trying to answer Mr. Rubenstein's issues regarding our forecast.  And I don't believe that it was really around Dawn-Parkway turnback.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  That is fine.  I will look it up, when we get the transcript.  Thanks.  I thought there was something I missed but maybe not, and maybe it is me, not you.

So one more question:  You talked at the beginning of your discussion with Mr. Rubenstein about this idea of, as part of an open season on Dawn-Parkway -- and I assume perhaps some others, but at least Dawn-Parkway, a term-up provision as a precondition to seeking approval for an expansion.  And would that term-up provision differentiate as between in-franchise and ex-franchise customers who contract on the Dawn-Parkway system?  Maybe a precursor question is do you have in-franchise customers that hold Dawn-Parkway contracts?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Max Hagerman:  Do you mean do we have in-franchise customers that hold M12 contracts?

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.  M12 would be service on Dawn-Parkway for in-franchise customers.

MR. HAGERMAN:  Yes.  If a customer held an M12 contract, regardless of who they were, they would be asked to term up as part of that process, coupled with a reverse open season to ensure that they were going to stay on the system for at least five years after the in-service of any new facilities.

MR. MONDROW:  So it would be any customer contracting for Dawn-Parkway capacity, and not simply customers who are ex-Ontario customers?

MR. HAGERMAN:  That is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  All right.  And you wouldn't see any reason I assume to differentiate between the customers that you serve in Ontario and the customers you serve outside of Ontario, in respect of a term-up requirement?

MR. HAGERMAN:  Max Hagerman:  I am not sure how we would differentiate that, if you were talking about in-franchise general service customers as opposed to contract customers.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, I am talking about contract customers who take -- Ontario contract customers versus ex-Ontario contract customers.  So let me back up:  When there is an Ontario customer that contracts for M12 capacity, you refer to them in the context of the Dawn-Parkway contracting amounts as an ex-franchise customer or an in-franchise customer?

MR. HAGERMAN:  That is correct.  So, if I understand your question right, if it is an Ontario customer that holds M12 capacity, we would treat them the same as an ex-franchise customer in Boston.  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Right, okay.  And that you would treat them the same, also for the purposes in your view at the moment of the term-up provision that you have indicated you will be bringing forward in a facilities application or an IRP application?

MR. HAGERMAN:  That is correct, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Perfect.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thank you, very much, Panel, and thank you.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  I am advised that OEB Staff do not have questions, and there are no Panel questions either.  Mr. Stevens, do you have any redirect?

MR. STEVENS:  Just one moment, please.  I do have just one question.  Thank you.
Re-Examination by Mr. Stevens:


Panel, in the discussion with Mr. Quinn, there was a little bit of talk about the ICF report that was commissioned for Enbridge Gas.  And Mr. Quinn noted that ICF had not addressed ratepayer protections for Dawn-Parkway capacity turnback.  And I think the answer back was that ICF was focused on 2024 to 2028, the upcoming IR term.

So, with reference to 2024 to 2028, and I am not sure; this they be a question for you, Ms. Mikhaila.  Can you explain how ratepayers are or are not at risk for costs associated with Dawn-Parkway turnback during the 2024 to 2028 IR term?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, I can.  Again, the full costs of the Dawn-Parkway system are included in the cost allocation for recovery from -- from ratepayers.  But in addition, the company has proposed and I believe accepted through the settlement process a Dawn-Parkway surplus capacity deferral account, where any surplus capacity that existed as part of the 2024 forecast, which was 89 TJ a day, to the extent the Dawn-Parkway system is in a surplus capacity position of less than 89 TJs a day, meaning there has been a sale of some of that surplus capacity, that would be refunded through -- to customers, through the Dawn-Parkway surplus capacity deferral account.

On the other hand, if there is Dawn-Parkway turnback through the 2024 to 2028 time period and it puts the Dawn-Parkway system in a surplus position of greater than 89 TJ, that risk would be borne by the utility and not sought for recovery through -- to ratepayers, in this IR term.  Does that help, Mr. Stevens?

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Those are my questions, Commissioner.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  I think that concludes this witness panel's time here.  So the Panel thanks you for your assistance and you are excused.

We have run out of time.  I think we had tentatively scheduled the beginning of FRPO's witness panel, but I think we will start that first thing tomorrow, at 9:30.  And tomorrow is a hybrid hearing day.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, sir.  I appreciate that Mr. Rosenkranz will be available, first thing tomorrow.

MR. MORAN:  On that note, we are adjourned until 9:30 tomorrow.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:20 p.m.
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